
 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

TOWN OF PAONIA 
TUESDAY, APRIL 13, 2021 

REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

6:30 PM 

IN-PERSON MEETING AT 214 GRAND AVENUE COMMUNITY ROOM 

 

APPROPRIATE FACE COVERINGS ARE REQUIRED WHILE INSIDE THE BUILDING  
 

Roll Call 

Approval of Agenda 

Announcements 
2021 Arbor Day Proclamation 

Recognition of Visitors & Guests 

Staff Reports 

1. Administrator’s Report 

Public Works & Utilities Report 

Police Report 

Finance Report 

Attorney Report  

Treasurer's Report 
2. Treasurer’s Report 

Disbursements 
3. Disbursements 

Consent Agenda 

4. Regular Minutes: 

March 23, 2021 

Special Minutes: 

April 6, 2021 

Liquor License Renewal: 

Curiel, LLC dba Rio Bravo  

Special Event Permits: 

Blue Sage Center for the Arts 

The Learning Council 

Relocation of Approved Special Event for Friends of the Paradise Theatre  

Unfinished Business 
5. Retail Marijuana Ordinance 2021-01 - Second Read 

6. Proposed Ordinance Language Regarding Outdoor Lighting Regulations 

7. Modification of Board Meeting Schedule 

New Business 
8. Ordinance 2021-TBD Board of Appeals 

Mayor’s Report 
9. Mayor’s Report 

Committee Reports 

1



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

10. Finance & Personnel 

   Personnel Liaison Appointment Confirmation 

Governmental Affairs & Public Safety 

   Mobile Retail Food Establishments 

Public Works-Utilities-Facilities 

Tree Board 

Advisory Water  

Adjournment 
  

2



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

AS ADOPTED BY: 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-10 – Amended May 22, 2018 

 

I. RULES OF PROCEDURE 

 

Section 1.  Schedule of Meetings.  Regular Board of Trustees meetings shall be held on the second and fourth Tuesdays of each 

month, except on legal holidays, or as re-scheduled or amended and posted on the agenda prior to the scheduled meeting. 

 

Section 2.  Officiating Officer.  The meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be conducted by the Mayor or, in the Mayor’s 

absence, the Mayor Pro-Tem.  The Town Clerk or a designee of the Board shall record the minutes of the meetings. 

 

Section 3.  Time of Meetings.  Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall begin at 6:30 p.m. or as scheduled and posted on 

the agenda. Board Members shall be called to order by the Mayor.  The meetings shall open with the presiding officer leading 

the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance.  The Town Clerk shall then proceed to call the roll, note the absences and announce 

whether a quorum is present.  Regular Meetings are scheduled for three hours, and shall be adjourned at 9:30 p.m., unless a 

majority of the Board votes in the affirmative to extend the meeting, by a specific amount of time.  

 

Section 4. Schedule of Business.  If a quorum is present, the Board of Trustees shall proceed with the business before it, which 

shall be conducted in the following manner.  Note that all provided times are estimated:  

 

 (a) Roll Call - (5 minutes) 

 (b) Approval of Agenda - (5 minutes) 

 (c) Announcements (5 minutes) 

 (d) Recognition of Visitors and Guests (10 minutes) 

 (e) Consent Agenda including Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes (10 minutes) 

 (f) Mayor’s Report (10 minutes) 

 (g) Staff Reports: (15 minutes) 

  (1) Town Administrator’s Report 

  (2) Public Works Reports  

  (3) Police Report 

  (4) Treasurer Report 

      

 (h) Unfinished Business (45 minutes) 

 (i) New Business (45 minutes) 

 (j) Disbursements (15 minutes) 

 (k) Committee Reports (15 minutes) 

 (l) Adjournment 

 

  * This schedule of business is subject to change and amendment. 

  

Section 5. Priority and Order of Business. Questions relative to the priority of business and order shall be decided by the Mayor 

without debate, subject in all cases to an appeal to the Board of Trustees.  

 

Section 6.  Conduct of Board Members.   Town Board Members shall treat other Board Members and the public in a civil and 

polite manner and shall comply with the Standards of Conduct for Elected Officials of the Town.  Board Members shall address 

Town Staff and the Mayor by his/her title, other Board Members by the title of Trustee or the appropriate honorific (i.e.: Mr., 

Mrs. or Ms.), and members of the public by the appropriate honorific.  Subject to the Mayor’s discretion, Board Members shall 

be limited to speaking two times when debating an item on the agenda.  Making a motion, asking a question or making a 

suggestion are not counted as speaking in a debate.  

 

Section 7. Presentations to the Board.  Items on the agenda presented by individuals, businesses or other organizations shall be 

given up to 5 minutes to make a presentation.  On certain issues, presenters may be given more time, as determined by the 

Mayor and Town Staff.  After the presentation, Trustees shall be given the opportunity to ask questions. 

 

Section 8. Public Comment.  After discussion of an agenda item by the Board of Trustees has concluded, the Mayor shall open 

the floor for comment from members of the public, who shall be allowed the opportunity to comment or ask questions on the 

agenda item.  Each member of the public wishing to address the Town Board shall be recognized by the presiding officer before 

speaking.  Members of the public shall speak from the podium, stating their name, the address of their residence and any group 

they are representing prior to making comment or asking a question.  Comments shall be directed to the Mayor or presiding 

officer, not to an individual Trustee or Town employee.  Comments or questions should be confined to the agenda item or issue(s) 

under discussion.  The speaker should offer factual information and refrain from obscene language and personal attacks. 

3



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

 

Section 9.  Unacceptable Behavior. Disruptive behavior shall result in expulsion from the meeting.   

 

Section 10.  Posting of Rules of Procedure for Paonia Board of Trustees Meetings. These rules of procedure shall be provided in 

the Town Hall meeting room for each Board of Trustees meeting so that all attendees know how the meeting will be conducted. 

 

II. CONSENT AGENDA 

 

Section 1. Use of Consent Agenda. The Mayor, working with Town Staff, shall place items on the Consent Agenda. By using a 

Consent Agenda, the Board has consented to the consideration of certain items as a group under one motion. Should a Consent 

Agenda be used at a meeting, an appropriate amount of discussion time will be allowed to review any item upon request.  

Section 2. General Guidelines. Items for consent are those which usually do not require discussion or explanation prior to action 

by the Board, are non-controversial and/or similar in content, or are those items which have already been discussed or explained 

and do not require further discussion or explanation. Such agenda items may include ministerial tasks such as, but not limited 

to, approval of previous meeting minutes, approval of staff reports, addressing routine correspondence, approval of liquor 

licenses renewals and approval or extension of other Town licenses. Minor changes in the minutes such as non-material Scribner 

errors may be made without removing the minutes from the Consent Agenda.  Should any Trustee feel there is a material error 

in the minutes, they should request the minutes be removed from the Consent Agenda for Board discussion. 

Section 3. Removal of Item from Consent Agenda. One or more items may be removed from the Consent Agenda by a timely 

request of any Trustee. A request is timely if made prior to the vote on the Consent Agenda. The request does not require a 

second or a vote by the Board. An item removed from the Consent Agenda will then be discussed and acted on separately either 

immediately following the consideration of the Consent Agenda or placed later on the agenda, at the discretion of the Board.  

 

III.  EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Section 1.  An executive session may only be called at a regular or special Board meeting where official action may be taken by 

the Board, not at a work session of the Board.  To convene an executive session, the Board shall announce to the public in the 

open meeting the topic to be discussed in the executive session, including specific citation to the statute authorizing the Board 

to meet in an executive session and identifying the particular matter to be discussed “in as much detail as possible without 

compromising the purpose for which the executive session is authorized.” In the even the Board plans to discuss more than one 

of the authorized topics in the executive session, each should be announced, cited and described. Following the announcement 

of the intent to convene an executive session, a motion must then be made and seconded.  In order to go into executive session, 

there must be the affirmative vote of two thirds (2/3) of Members of the Board. 

 

Section 2.  During executive session, minutes or notes of the deliberations should not be taken. Since meeting minutes are subject 

to inspection under the Colorado Open Records Act, the keeping of minutes would defeat the private nature of executive 

session. In addition, the deliberations carried out during executive session should not be discussed outside of that session or 

with individuals not participating in the session.  The contexts of an executive session are to remain confidential unless a 

majority of the Trustees vote to disclose the contents of the executive session. 

 

Section 3.  Once the deliberations have taken place in executive session, the Board should reconvene in regular session to take 

any formal action decided upon during the executive session.  If you have questions regarding the wording of the motion or 

whether any other information should be disclosed on the record, it is essential for you to consult with the Town Attorney on 

these matters. 

 

 

IV. SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT 

 

Section 1. Deviations.  The Board may deviate from the procedures set forth in this Resolution, if, in its sole discretion, such 

deviation is necessary under the circumstances. 

Section 2.  Amendment.   The Board may amend these Rules of Procedures Policy from time to time. 

4



PROCLAMATION 
 

WHEREAS, the legislature of the State of Colorado has adopted an Act designating Arbor 
Day; and 
 
WHEREAS, this holiday, called Arbor Day is now observed throughout the nation and the 
world; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is the purpose of the designation of this day to encourage the planting of 
shade and forest trees, to encourage the harvesting of our forest crops by approved 
conservation methods, and to encourage the protection of our forests from the scourge of 
devastating fires, insects, and diseases that destroy the beauty and usefulness of our 
woodlands as well as their wildlife; and 
 
WHEREAS, trees in our town increase property values, enhance the economic vitality of 
business areas and beautify our community; and 
 
WHEREAS, through the cooperation of all residents of Paonia in shade and forest tree 
planting and proper conservation practices in harvesting timber, we can pass on an enduring 
heritage of a vital natural resource to succeeding generations;  
 
WHEREAS, Paonia has been recognized as a Tree City USA by the National Arbor Day 
Foundation and desires to continue supporting tree-planting efforts,  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Mary Bachran, Mayor of the Town of Paonia, hereby proclaim 
April 30, 2021 as 
 

ARBOR DAY 
 

In the community of Paonia, and urge all citizens to celebrate Arbor Day and to support 
efforts to protect trees and woodlands, and 
 
FURTHER, I urge everyone able to do so, to observe this day by the planting of one or 
more trees and by participating in one or more programs that the sponsors of Arbor Day 
may provide, including the planting of trees along Box Elder Avenue. 
. 

GIVEN, under my hand and seal of the Town of Paonia, this 13th day 
of April in the year of our Lord, Two Thousand and twenty-one. 

 
 
            

Mary Bachran, Mayor  
Attest: 
    _______ 
Corinne Ferguson, Administrator/Clerk 

5



 

April 7, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 

Administrator’s Report 

Public Works & Utilities Report 

Police Report 

Finance Report 

Attorney Report  

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

VW – verbal warning 

WW – written warning 

CIT - citation 

CAA – clear adult arrest 

UTL – unable to locate 

UNF - unfounded 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

: 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

6



From the desk of Corinne Ferguson 
Town Administrator/Clerk 
 

  

Administrators Report for April 13, 2021 

Please note: This report is not a comprehensive list of all projects but acts as a highlight for included packet 
documents, ongoing, and upcoming projects. 

Previous Meeting Follow-up: 

1. The Colorado Forest Service Tree Inventory is on the website. Appendices to be added later as time 
permits. 

2. Mapping of waterlines, sewer lines, and tree inventories are now online under Departments – Public 
Works tab. 

3. The Tree Board ordinance revision is tentatively scheduled to go before the Board April 27th.  
 

Updates: 

1. Continue to clear outstanding reporting deficiencies with CDPHE.  Final date for all is by end of April.  
On schedule for completion. 

2. The Town is operating under a temporary ORC until completion of testing for new plant procedures.  
3. Travis is scheduled for all testing for updated license requirements this month. 
4. Finalizing the schedule for the community, focus group, and design workshop sessions for the Parks, 

Trails, and Recreation Master Plan for mid May. 
5. Master Plan Update –upon receipt of part 1 & 2 trustee review and edits – will go back to the 

planning commission for additional feedback and beginning stages of sections 3 – 5.  
6. The Planning Commission hearing review for the Riverbank Subdivision was rescheduled due to a 

time of hearing error on the community notifications.  The hearing is scheduled for 1pm Friday, April 
16th.  

7. The Planning Commission has a second meeting scheduled for April 30th at 1PM for a variance 
request and review of the ADU draft ordinance. 

8. Investigating fillable forms website upgrade through SIPA. 
9. I have authorized Zenzen Organics to use a small section of Poulos Park (beside Lehman Images) for 

delivery of community food boxes once a month. Paonia Farm and Home has operated as the site, 
but due to direct sun exposure and rising temperatures another location was necessary. The food 
boxes are delivered and picked up usually within a two-hour period of time. 

10. On consent agenda is the relocation of a previously approved special event application for Friends of 
the Paradise Theatre.  The event is being moved to Town Park to allow for the closure of Poulos Park 
for the sod installation.  Poulos Park will be closed to public and events until May 24th – other than 
two events May 7th and 14th.  

11. Spring Cleanup is scheduled for May 24th to 28th.   
 
Thank you. 

7



Public Works Report – 4/13/2021 

 

1. Status with JDS Hydro – underway with no additional delays anticipated.  

2. Consumer Confidence Report and Final violation notice complete and out 

for delivery.  

3. Lead and Cooper tests all clear. – No further action necessary in relation to 

the December positive results.   

4. RFP for 2021 street improvement projects out for bid – Closes 4/30/21 

5. Town Stewart Ditch park lateral piping complete. 

6. Working with SGM on lead & copper exceedance requirements. 

7. Boring for irrigation water connection to Lee’s Park scheduled. 

8. Poulos Park sprinklers complete. 

9. Sod install prep and install this week. 

10. Five trees ordered for Arbor Day planting 4/30/21 

11. Street sweeper begins 4/12/21 

 

 

 

 

 

8



rplwlitr.x1

Paonia Police Department
Law Incident Table, by Date and Time

Date Occurred:   03/16/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
10:34:37 FRAUD PPD PPD
14:09:59 VIN INSPECTION

Address
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

17:29:52 ANIMAL CONTROL 3RD ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
18:11:35 Noise Complaint BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 4

Date Occurred:   03/17/21
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
14:27:16 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
14:33:05 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
17:27:20 CITIZEN ASSIST

GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
BLOCK 5TH St, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Date Occurred:   03/18/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
14:25:36 Certified Vin PPD DIST3
15:48:45 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
16:26:55 AGENCY ASSIST

Address
FARMERS MINE RD, Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
HIGHWAY 133, Hotchkiss, CO PPD DIST3

Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Date Occurred:   03/19/21
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
12:19:19 CITIZEN ASSIST GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
17:07:47 SUSPICIOUS 2ND ST, Paonia, CO                           PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   03/21/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
10:56:48 Traffic Stop PPD VW
11:26:09 Traffic Stop

Address
HWY 92
Grand AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD CIT

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   03/22/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
09:06:59 ALARM

Address
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

UTL

9



Law Incident Table, by Date and Time Page 2 of 3

rplwlitr.x1

Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
10:36:22 Traffic Stop PPD PPD CIT
11:00:56 ALARM PPD PPD
19:16:18 Medical/transfe PPD PPD
20:29:33 AGENCY ASSIST

Address
2nd Street, Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
MAIN AVE, Paonia, CO 
PANORAMA RD, Paonia, CO PPD DIST3

Total Incidents for this Date: 5

Date Occurred:   03/23/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
11:58:07 FRAUD PPD PPD
14:38:16 VIN INSPECTION PPD DIST3
16:13:52 TRAFFIC PPD CIT
16:13:52 Traffic Stop PPD DIST3 CIT
16:18:37 Information

Address
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
SHADY LN, Paonia, CO
HIGHWAY 133, Hotchkiss, CO 
HWY 133, Hotchkiss, CO 
MAIN AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

20:56:20 SUICIDE/ATTEMPT PPD HOT
23:20:07 Parking Problem

3RD ST, Hotchkiss, CO
Onarga AVE., Paonia, CO PPD PPD CIT

Total Incidents for this Date: 7

Date Occurred:   03/24/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
13:56:42 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
16:39:51 Certified Vin

Address
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   03/25/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
06:58:20 TrafficAccident PPD DIST3
11:18:13 Information

Address
HIGHWAY 133, Paonia, CO 
BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   03/26/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
10:51:59 Information

Address
VISTA DR, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

17:35:22 ANIMAL CONTROL PPD PPD UTL
20:54:25 AGENCY ASSIST PPD PPD
21:12:52 Traffic Stop

RIO GRANDE AVE, Paonia, CO 
ORCHARD AVE, Paonia, CO
5TH St, Paonia, CO PPD PPD CIT

Total Incidents for this Date: 4

Date Occurred:   03/27/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
09:15:23 SUSPICIOUS PPD PPD
13:08:18 THEFT PPD PPD
15:32:19 Traffic Stop

Address
GRAND AVE., Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO
5th Street, Paonia, CO PPD PPD CIT

UNF

10



Law Incident Table, by Date and Time Page 3 of 3

Report Includes:
All dates between `00:00:01 03/16/21` and `00:00:01 03/31/21`, All agencies matching `PPD`, All disposition's, All natures,
All location codes, All cities

VW 4, UTL 2, CIT 8, UNF 1

Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
17:03:51 SEX OFFENSE PPD PPD
20:14:20 Traffic Stop PPD PPD CIT
22:09:00 Medical/transfe

ONARGA AVE, Paonia, CO 
3RD St, Paonia, CO 
POPLAR AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 6

Date Occurred:   03/28/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
00:57:57 TRESPASS PPD PPD VW
12:49:55 Medical/transfe PPD PPD
16:27:34 TRESPASS PPD PPD VW
17:40:16 SUSPICIOUS PPD PPD
19:52:08 CIVIL PROBLEM PPD PPD
23:18:47 TRESPASS

Address
3RD ST, Paonia, CO
VISTA DR, Paonia, CO
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO
5TH ST, Paonia, CO
OAK AVE, Paonia, CO
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD VW

Total Incidents for this Date: 6

Date Occurred:   03/29/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
11:43:30 CITIZEN ASSIST PPD PPD
15:06:45 AGENCY ASSIST PPD DIST3
18:40:31 SUSPICIOUS PPD PPD
18:45:45 Medical/transfe

Address
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
COBURN RD, Paonia, CO
4th St., Paonia, CO 
ORCHARD AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 4

Date Occurred:   03/30/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
12:57:42 TrafficAccident

Address
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Total reported: 51

11



Finance Report as of 04/09/21 presented at the 04/13/21 meeting: 

 

COMPLETED: 

Monthly: 

Payroll for 3/26/21 and 4/09/21 was completed, reviewed, and released.  Gross payroll for 3/26/21 

totaled $25,825.61.  This included 16 employees + 1 Judge + 1 treasurer+7 trustees. Gross payroll for 

4/9/21 totaled $22,749.44.  This included 16 employees. 

Our month payment to Norris Retirement was completed and was released on 4/06/21 effective 

4/26/21. 

Bank accounts through 2/28/2021 have been reconciled and were reviewed 3/24/21. 

Chase credit card bill for 2/24/21 – 3/23/21 is included in the packet. 

Month End Budget to Actual DRAFT for January and February are attached. Correction still pending. 

Year‐End: 

Year‐end entries are substantially complete.  Minor adjustment will continue through the audit. 

Banking: 

Nothing new to report. 

Audit: 

Audit has begun.  Field work begins April 12th.  Pre‐requested items are substantially complete. 

Other (Continued): 

Colorado Department of Revenue – Exempt Fuel – Account selected for review 30 days from 2/17/21. 

Completed and e‐mailed 03/02/2021 @ 4:23pm. All methods initially rejected.  All information was 

resubmitted via Revenue Online and was accepted 3/10/2021. No further information has been 

received. 

Other (New): 

Nothing new to report. 

 

TO DO: 

The Fund Balance and Financial Policy discussed by the Finance Committee on 2/24/21.  It was discussed 

at the Finance/HR Committee meeting on 3/10/21.  There was further discussion at the 3/24/21 

meeting.  Still remains with the Finance/HR Committee. 

12



PTO still needs reviewed regarding the new requirements.  Finance Committee started discussion at the 

3/10/21. There was further discussion at the 3/24/21 meeting.  Dave Knutson will be providing a 

spreadsheet of changes and required timeline that are expected by the new regulations. 

Since RMHMO will no longer be providing Group Health Insurance I have received quotes from Home 

Loan, CEBT and County Health Pool. It was discussed at the Finance/HR Committee meeting on 3/10/21.  

Other options are being explored with Home Loan and CML and Connect for Health. Spoke with CML 

Connect for Health will require a policy change by the board if it is determined to be a viable option. 

The conversion from Mutual of Omaha to Empower for the employee retirement plan has been 

complete and all funds held have been transmitted to Empower. 

ClearGov – The requested changes have been made and are waiting for a second review. 

Highway users report still to do.  Waiting for report format from CDOT. 

Conservation Trust Fund 2022 Certification of eligibility due after 3/1/2021. 

 

GRANT UPDATES:   

Current Grants: 

GOCO Park, Recreation, and Trails Master Plan (Completion Date = 09/26/2021) Nothing submitted to 

date, have only received on one (1) invoice totaling $5,128.50. Submission pending time to submit. 

COVID Relief Fund Grant from DOLA. Total requesting is $86,382.52.  Submission pending time to 

submit. 

CDOT Grant for Revitalizing Main Street – Revised Inv#2 for $4,303.59, Inv#3 for $5997.72, and Inv#4 for 

$11,409.42 were submitted and accepted on 3/17/21. 

Admin Grant from DOLA for System Analysis‐submitted through 12/31/2020. Total request = $2,637.13. 

Pending more information which was sent 2/12/21. Received 2/25/21. 

Tier I Grant from DOLA for Asset Inventory and Mapping‐submitted through 12/31/2020. Total request = 

$10,923.95. Received 2/9/21. 

 

Please note: This report is not a comprehensive list of all projects but acts as a highlight of 

included packet documents, ongoing, and upcoming projects. 

13



 

 

 P.O. Box 3310, 130 N. Park Avenue       Montrose, Colorado 81402               T: 970-249-7000               F: 970-249-8440 

 

DEVOR & PLUMHOFF, LLC                                                                         Bo James Nerlin   

Attorneys and Counselors at Law                        bo@coloradowestlaw.com 

         

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

To: Board of Trustees, Town of Paonia 

From:  Bo James Nerlin, Esq.  

Re:  Town Attorney Report 

Date:  4/9/2021 

CC: Ms. Corinne Ferguson  

 

 

 The purpose of this memorandum is to outline several projects that I have been working 

on as Town Attorney.  This is to serve as a brief overview and not a comprehensive list.  

 

 Paonia Ditch Company 

 Travis, Corinne, and I have a meeting set with representatives next week.  Subsequent to 

this meeting, we will report to the Board of Trustees as a follow up to the meeting. 

  

 Marijuana Regulation 

  

Enclosed with this memorandum is a revised marijuana ordinance based on the comments 

provided at the March 23, 2021 Board Meeting.  Subsequent to this Board Meeting, the Board of 

Trustees received substantive comments regarding the proposed ordinance.  These comments are 

also included in the packet.  While I do not believe that it is appropriate to incorporate some of 

the public comments provided without feedback from the Trustees, I will provide an outline 

addressing the public comments prior to the Board Meeting.   

   

Board of Adjustment/Board of Appeals 

 

The Gaps Committee has reviewed the enclosed draft ordinance creating a Board of 

Appeals.     

 

Outdoor Lighting Regulations 

 

I have undertaken an initial review of the Outdoor Lighting Regulations included in the 

packet.  This Ordinance was drafted by Dark Skies Paonia.  Provided the Board wishes to move 

forward, the draft language will need to be incorporated into an Ordinance and cross-referenced 

with other provisions in the code.  Nevertheless, I believe it is appropriate for there to be an 

initial review and feedback of the enclosed draft.   

 

  

 

 

 

14

mailto:bo@coloradowestlaw.com


Board Meeting Schedule  

  

Enclosed in the Board Packet is a proposed three-week meeting schedule.  This proposed 

schedule is strictly for review and discussion and is subject to subsequent adoption by the Board 

of Trustees should they wish to proceed with a temporarily modified test schedule.   

 

  

Tree Board Ordinance 

  

Trustee Meck has provided Town Staff with a revised Tree Board Ordinance for review 

and subsequent consideration by the Trustees.  It is anticipated that this Ordinance will be in the 

April 27th Board Meeting Packet.   

 

 Citizen’s Ethics Complaint 

  

The Trustees and Town Staff have received an ethic’s complaint filed by a Town Citizen 

against a Trustee.  The Mayor has directed me, as the Town Attorney to undertake an initial 

review of this complaint, and thus it is being evaluated and analyzed by my office as the Town 

Attorney.  Thereafter, the Trustees will be provided with an opportunity to discuss the complaint 

filed, and the options available to the Trustees in further investigating the allegations contained 

in the Complaint.   

 

  

  

15



 

April 7, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Treasurer’s Report 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

16



 

April 7, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Disbursements 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

17



   

    

 

  

  

  

  

  

          

 

 

  

   

   

  

   

  

  

  

  

18



 

 
  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 
 

   

 

    

  

    

 
  

   

   

 
   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

    

   

   

    

  

    

   

   

19



  

  

    

    

 
 

   

  

      

    

   

  

  

 

 

   

20



      

  

     

 
 

 
 

 
    

  
 

 

 
 

  

  

 

    

   

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

   

  

    

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

   

   

    

    

    

   

  

  

  

   

   

   

   

   

  

  

  

  

   

   

  

  

  

   

  

  

  

    

   

   

    

   

 
    

     

   

 
 
   

   

   

 
   

   

   

   

  

 
   

 
  

   

   

  

 
  

 

 

   

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

  

  

  

 

21



      

  

   

 
 

           
         

     

  

            

 
 

 
 

 

   

22



 
  

              

  

  

  

 
  

  
  

      
      

  

         

      
           

   

  
   

  
  

    
     

               
              

      

                
              

              

 
 

           
  

  

 

23



 

              

   

             
 

 

   

   

 

 

 

  

 

    

                  

      

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

   
   

    

      

24



25



     

     

 
 

 

 

   
 

      

  

     

   

  

   

   
 

      

   

  

    

     

     
 

     

      
 

      

    

      

    

    
 

     

     

     
 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

    
    

         
   

 
            

 
  

26



27



 
   

  

 

 

 

          

        

       

 

       

       

     

 

 

 

  

 

         

       

  

   28



 
   

  

          

         

      

        

      

               

             

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

         

    

   

               

     

         

         
    

   
 

       

     
     

   

 

 

  29



 
   

  

 

  

           
     

           

                 

     

     

  

 

  

 

  

  

  

  

        

      

     

 

     
       

     

         

      

 
 

  

 

 

   30



   

   
  

      

 

  31



 

 

    

  

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

                

32



  

 

    

  

  

  

   

  

  

  

 

                 

33



      

     

 
 

 

   

  

  

  
 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 
 

 
 

    

    

     

     

    

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

      

    

      

    

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

    

    

    

   

    

   

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

   

   

   

   

   

 

      

      

      

 

   

   

        
       

  
  
  

    
    

     

 

 

 

   
   
       

  

  

        
       

34



      

     

 
 

  
 

  

  

  

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  
  

  

  

 

    

    

 

    

    

    

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

    

      

      

      

     

      

      

     

     
      

    

      

 

 

 

 

  

    
    
    

    

 

 

       

    

       

        

   

 

 

  
  

 

  

  

  

35



      

     

 
 

 

 

  

  

  
 

 

  

  

  

  

  

 
 

 

    

 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 

    

    

     

     

    

  

  

 

 

  

 

      

       

     

       

      
      
       

     
    
       

 

 

 

 

     

     

     

 

  

   

   

   

  

   

   

   

   

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

     

     

    
     
      

      

      

      

 

 

36



      

     

 
 

  
 

  

  

  

 

    

 

    

    

 

 

    
   

     

        

       

       

 

 

  

  

  

 

  

37



       

    

 
 

 

 

  

 
   

   

   

  

  

  

  

   

  

  

  

   

   

  

   

  

 
  

   

  

  

 
   

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  

 
   

38



       

    

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

  

  

 

39



 

April 9, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Regular Minutes: 

March 23, 2021 

Special Minutes: 

April 6, 2021 

Liquor License Renewal: 

Curiel, LLC dba Rio Bravo  

Special Event Permits: 

Blue Sage Center for the Arts 

The Learning Council 

Relocation of Approved Special Event for Friends of the Paradise Theatre  

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

Rio Bravo – renewal contingent upon receipt of completed Tax Check Authorization form and 

updated lease renewal for location. 

 

Liquor Licenses – no issues noted 

 

Friends of the Paradise Theatre – event was scheduled at Poulos Park but needs relocated to 

Town Park due to sod installation schedule.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

40



 

  

MARCH 23, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 1 

 

Minutes 

Regular Town Board Meeting 

Town of Paonia, Colorado 

March 23, 2021 

  

RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

The Regular Meeting held via Zoom on Tuesday, March 23, 2021, was called to order at 6:31 p.m. by 

Mayor Mary Bachran, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance. Formal Video Record at 
https://youtu.be/lKittgJePBk 

 

Roll Call 

PRESENT 

Mayor Bachran 

Trustee Bear 

Trustee Budinger 

Trustee Knutson 

Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Meck 

Trustee Pattison – Absentee  

 

Approval of Agenda 
 

 Motion made by Trustee Bear, Seconded by Trustee Budinger and unanimously carried to approve 

agenda as presented.  
 

Announcements  
None. 
 

Recognition of Visitors & Guests  
Cassandra Shenk – Lambert Grange #439 presentation: 

 Grange Master Cassandra Shenk spoke about what the Grange is.  

o The Grange is a fraternal organization based on the freemasons that was organized in Paonia 

on September 21, 1936. They are an agricultural advocacy group. 

o The Lambert Grange #439 would like to offer a class that is custom made to the Board. 

o A work session was scheduled for April 6, 2021 at 5pm. 

 Public: 

o A community member requested that the Building Department’s form be in an electronic 

fillable format.  

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison    X 

Mayor Bachran      

41

https://youtu.be/lKittgJePBk


 

  

MARCH 23, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 2 

 

o A community member expressed concern about the timeline for replacement of the current 

building official.  

 

Staff Reports 
 Administrator’s Report: 

 The Administrator’s report was included in the packet. 

o Provided the Riverbank Subdivision hearing calendar. 

o Provided the calendar for the upcoming variance application before the planning 

commission. 

o Discussed the recommendation that was received from One Delta County 

 to evaluate as individual communities’ incentives for development within Town 

limit. A draft resolution that Delta County is reviewing will be on the Town 

Board agenda in the coming months.  

 Board members expressed their concern about JDS Hydro’s report being delayed and 

rescheduled.  

 Board members expressed their concerns regarding the compliancy the public works 

director’s licenses to operate the sewer and water plants. 

o The Public Works Director is scheduled for testing to update his (ORC) Operator 

in Responsible Charge certification license.  

 Board members expressed their concern in regard to the information that was reported on 

the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) website.  

o Admin/Town Clerk Ferguson stated that all violations have been reported 

accurately and any new violations would need to be looked in to. 

 Board member was concerned with errors in the Tree Board ordinance 2020-05 

document. 

o Mayor Bachran suggested that the ordinance be provided at the next meeting to 

discuss errors.  

 Suggestion from a Board member to investigate a contract for the Town’s sewer and 

water plants reporting to the State. 

 

Public comments: 

 A community member suggested to add the 2021 Tree inventory’s appendices onto 

the Town’s website. 

 A community member questioned how information they may deem as misinformation 

to media/radio is handled after the fact.  

 
 

 

Public Works report: 

 The Public Works report was included in the packet. 

 Trustee Meck a member for the Public Works Committee would like to be present for the 

street repair bid opening. 

 A Board member requested the status of the consumer annual sample cross connection 

control report.  

o Public Works Director Loberg stated that the report will be completed by end of 

April.  
 

Police Report: 

42



 

  

MARCH 23, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 3 

 

 The police blotter was included in the packet. 

 Patrol car is still in the Town shop getting customized.  

 Reported that there have been numerous calls from citizens about workers compensation 

fraud.  

o Chief Ferguson stated to not release any information out to these callers 

who are scammers. 

 Reported on the agreement about assisting the Hotchkiss Marshals Office with coverage. 

 A community member suggested that the Police Department have an outreach program 

regarding fraud for the community.  

 

Attorney Report: 

 The attorney’s report was included in the packet.  

 

 Treasurer’s Report: 

 Reviewed disbursements and payroll.  

o Disbursements were included in the packet. 

 

Disbursements 
Disbursements Report: 

 Finance Director Jones reported that the year-end entries have been completed.  

 A trial balance will be supplied to the auditors on 3/24/2021. 

 The funds balance and finance policy, and personal time off (PTO) will be discussed at 

the finance meeting held 3/24/21. 

 Working on finding a new health care insurance provider.  

 Empower retirement representative will be coming in on 3/25/21 to set up employees 

with their account.  

 

 Motion by Trustee Knutson and seconded by Trustee Budinger and unanimously carried to approve 

the disbursements as presented.  

Consent Agenda 
Regular Minutes: 

o March 9, 2021 

Work session: 

o March 16, 2021 
 

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison    X 

Mayor Bachran      

43



 

  

MARCH 23, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 4 

 

Special Event Liquor License: 

o Friends of the Paradise Theatre – Poulos Park concert series.  
 

Liquor License Renewals: 

o Thomas Waldo’s 

o The Flying Fork 

 

 Motion made by Trustee Knutson, Seconded by Trustee Meck and unanimously carried to approve 

the agenda as presented.  

Unfinished Business  

Retail Marijuana Ordinance 2021-01 – First Read: 

 A Board member was concerned with delivery options as drafted in the ordinance. 

o Town Attorney stated that all deliveries will be only in town limits.  

 A Board member stated that the request to cross reference the Business Formula was not 

included the ordinance.  

o Town Attorney stated that the request will be in the document for the second read.  

 A Board member stated that the language on page-3 section H the language needs to be 

clarified and state that no more than 12 licenses and a total of 6 stores are allowed.  

o The Board member’s statement was a proposed changed. 

 A Board member stated that the language on page-5 first paragraph needs to be clarified and 

state that only stores are allowed.  

o Town Attorney stated that only retail and medical stores are allowed, and that the 

marijuana license can be transferred under the commercial license under the State of 

Colorado regulations. 

o The Board member’s statement was a proposed change.  

 Other topics that were discussed were page-9 section H first paragraph regarding the time the 

license needs to be put to use.  

 On page 7 after section F should be G not H. 

 

 

 

Public comments: 

 A community member was concerned with the definition of the second whereas of the ordinance 

not being correct and stated that the definition on page-3 section D “Retail Marijuana 

Establishment” is incorrect. 

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison    X 

Mayor Bachran      

44



 

  

MARCH 23, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 5 

 

 A community member stated that the penalty and nuisance on page 12 section 6-4-200 should be 

separate items. 

 A community member stated it should be cannabis, not marijuana. 

 

  Motion made by Trustee Budinger, Seconded by Trustee Johnson and carried with 1 nay and 4 ayes 

to approve the Retail Marijuana Ordinance 2021-01 – First Read with the proposed changes made. 
 

New Business 

Large Park Event: The Learning Council – Town Park Farmer Market 

 Discussion regarding the request by The Learning Council to hold a farmers’ market at the 

Town Park every Tuesday, May 18th through October 12th from 5pm to 8pm with a total of 

25 expected vendors to attend. Documents were included in the packet. 

 Concerns from the Board regarding the farmers market were: 

o Foot traffic on the grassy areas resulting in wear and tear of it. 

o Suggestions were to have the farmers market on the pavement areas. 

o The Learning Council stated that they prefer to have the set-up in the shaded area and 

that they would re-seed the whole park at the end of the farmers market session. 
 

 Motion made by Trustee Knutson, Seconded by Trustee Budinger and carried with 1 nay and 4 ayes 

to approve the Farmers Market and direct staff to work with the Learning Council to mediate the 

grass issues. 

 

Resolution 2021-05 Local Disaster Declaration Extension: 

 Discussion ensued to extend Resolution 2021-05. 

 

 Motion made by Trustee Bear, Seconded by Trustee Budinger and unanimously carried to 

approve Resolution 2021-05 Local Disaster Declaration Extension.  

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck  X   

Trustee Pattison    x 

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear  X   

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison    X 

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

45



 

  

MARCH 23, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 6 

 

 

 Recess at 8:41 pm. 
 

 The meeting resumed at 8:48 pm 
 

Updating Board of Trustees Meeting Schedule: 

 Discussion was requested by the Finance and Personnel Committee to modify the current 

Board of Trustees’ meeting schedule from 2nd and 4th Tuesday to a 3-week meeting schedule.  

 

Board & Staff discussion points: 

 Discussed the issue of requesting the packets to complete and posted for the public and 

Board with holding a meeting every 2nd and 4th Tuesday of the month has been difficult at 

times this gives 9 days to staff to gather all the required information that the Board has 

requested during a meeting for the following meeting while having to do their regular day to 

day work.  

 Concerns discussed were the length of the meeting and if there would be enough time to 

discuss and decide on the agenda items. 

 The Finance and Personnel Committee have researched other Towns who have a 3-week 

schedule and stated that the schedule has worked out for them.  

 Concerns discussed were the approval of disbursements. 

o Finance and Personnel stated that the new and incoming disbursements would be both be 

approved at the same meeting.  

 Town Attorney Nerlin suggested to keep April as scheduled and start the new schedule in May. 

 The Board directed the Town Attorney to draft a plan regarding the 3-week schedule. 

 

Grand Ave Closure Discussion: 

 Discussion ensued by staff to request the Board to look into street closures specifically to 

Grand Ave. The Town Hall staff is looking for direction or recommendations from the Board 

on how to move forward with multiple organizations requesting consecutive days. 

 Trustee Bear was not in favor of the street closures and preferred that the applicant come 

before the Board for approval.  

o The current process for street closures can administratively be approved if it is less than 5 

hours under the current municipal code Chapter 11 Article 1 Section 11-1-80. 

o https://library.municode.com/co/paonia/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=CH11STSIPUPL

_ART1STSI_S11-1-80STCLPE 

 

o The Board set a work session on April 06, 2021 at 5:00pm to discuss the street 

closures policy. 

 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison    X 

Mayor Bachran      

46

https://library.municode.com/co/paonia/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=CH11STSIPUPL_ART1STSI_S11-1-80STCLPE
https://library.municode.com/co/paonia/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=CH11STSIPUPL_ART1STSI_S11-1-80STCLPE


 

  

MARCH 23, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 7 

 

Mayor’s Report 

 Mayor’s Report was included in the packet.  

 Mayor Bachran elaborated on the America Rescue Plan and State Recovery Stimulus money 

that has been passed.  

 Mayor Bachran is writing the AARP grant for the Town of Paonia and requested feedback as 

to which of these are high priority upgrading the electrical in the gazebo adding lights and 

resurfacing it, remodeling the bathrooms, and adding a bench in the playground area for the 

Board members.  

 

Committee Reports 

Finance & Personnel report: 

 Nothing to report. 

 

      Governmental Affairs & Public Safety report: 

 The short-term rental (STR’s) survey is going out April 1st will give a recommendation in 

May after the survey is reviewed. 

 The draft for additional dwelling units (ADU’s) will be reviewed by the Planning and 

Zoning Commission. 

 The draft ordinance for regulating Food Truck is in the works.  

 

      Public Works-Utilities-Facilities report: 

 Nothing to report. 

 

      Tree Board: 

 Reviewing the Forest Service Tree results. 

 Two trees will be planted on Box Elder Ave in celebration of Arbor Day April 30th. 

 The Paonia Elementary and NFSIS will be participating in the Arbor Day poster contest. 

 Meeting April 20th.  

 

      Advisory Water report: 

 Nothing to report. 

 Meeting March 24th at 5pm. 

 

 

Adjournment 

 

 The meeting was adjourned by Mayor Bachran at 9:45 pm 

 

 

 

_______________________________  ______________________________ 

Amanda Mojarro, Deputy Clerk                          Mary Bachran, Mayor  

 

47



 

 

  

APRIL 06, 2021 - WORK SESSION MINUTES 1 

 

 

Minutes 

Town Board Work Session 

Town of Paonia, Colorado 

April 06, 2021 

 

RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
 

The Work Session of the Town Board of Trustees held Tuesday, April 6, 2021, was called to order at 5:00 PM 

by Mayor Mary Bachran, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance. The official recording of the record began on 

the street closure polices discussion.  

 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2-tQ_Pjsyn0 

 

Trustee’s present were as follows: 

Mayor Mary Bachran 

Bill Bear 

Dave Knutson 

Karen Budinger 

Tamie Meck 

Mick Johnson 

Michelle Pattison 

 

Town Staff present were as follows: 

Administrator/Town Clerk Corinne Ferguson 

Deputy Clerk Amanda Mojarro 

Finance Officer Cindy Jones 

 

A quorum was present, and Mayor Bachran proceeded with the meeting. 

 

Regular Business 
 

           Lambert Grange #439 – Rethinking Conflict Presentation: 

  

            Cassandra Shenk provided a presentation/training on Rethinking Conflict and discussed the value of it, and The 

Law of Three. Discussion ensued regarding scheduling additional sessions in the upcoming months. 
 

 Street Closure Policies Discussion: 

 A list and calendar were passed out to all the Board members showing all the current street closures. 

● Administrator Ferguson presented suggestions for the street closures specifically for Grand Ave. 

○ The suggestions were in the packet.  

● Discussed the pros and cons of the street closure and the impact of wear and tear would have on the 

landscape of the Poulos Park.  

● Discussed the impact on the retail community on Grand Ave.  

● Trustee Bear suggested looking into the fee schedule for large park event and street closures.  

● Mayor Bachran asked what the cost of park maintenance and the water usage is after a large park event.  

● A concerned retail store owner (not in attendance) who would be impacted by the proposed events 

suggested moving the street closures that are a farmers’ market down to the 100 block of Grand Avenue. 

● The Board will continue to discuss the street closure policy at the next Board meeting.  

● Administrator Ferguson stated that she will be approving the street closures that are pending for May. 

 

Review and Discussion Regarding the Retreat Goals: 

 The goals document was included in the packet.  

 Board members each identified their first priority goal from the retreat. Follow up will be provided by 

Mayor Bachran at a later date.   

 

Adjournment 
 

Mayor Bachran adjourned the meeting at 6:31pm. 

 

 

_______________________________  ______________________________ 

Amanda Mojarro, Deputy Clerk                          Mary Bachran, Mayor  

48

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2-tQ_Pjsyn0


49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



 

April 9, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Retail Marijuana Ordinance 2021-01 - Second Read 

Summary:  Following multiple reviews, Board meetings, community work-session, and first 

read is the current draft retail marijuana ordinance. 

 

 

Notes: 

 

Thank you for all who have participated and aided throughout the process.  Following second 

read and approval, staff will finalize and prepare the fee resolution and application for Board 

review and approval. 

 

Included in the packet are community input regarding some of the language in the ordinance. 

All changes passed by the Board at the March 23rd meeting have been included.  Please note 

the addition of the definition for “commercial block” and added language excluding 

Commercially spot zoned lots within Town. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

70



Ordinance 2021-TBD Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 1 

 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 

ORDINANCE NO. 2021-TBD01 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO AMENDING THE 

PAONIA MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER SIX ARTICLE 4 CONCERNING THE 

REGULATION AND LICENSING OF MEDICAL AND RETAIL MARIJUANA STORES 

AND REPEALING ARTICLE 3 CONCERNING PROHIBITING MEDICAL 

MARIJUANA STORES 

 

WHEREAS, Section 14 of Article XVIII of the Colorado Constitution, also commonly 

known as Amendment 20 of 2000, authorizes the medical use of marijuana.   

 

WHEREAS, Section 16 of Article XVIII of the Colorado Constitution, also commonly 

known as Amendment 64 of 2012, authorizes a system of state licensing for businesses engaging 

in the cultivation, testing, manufacturing and retail sale of marijuana, collectively referred to as 

“marijuana stores” by the Constitution.   

 

WHEREAS, Subsection 16(5)(f) of Article XVIII allows localities within their 

respective jurisdictions:  to prohibit state licensing of marijuana establishments; to regulate the 

time, place and manner in which marijuana stores may operate; and to limit the total number of 

marijuana stores.  The authority of localities to prohibit or regulate marijuana stores within their 

respective jurisdictions, including the authority to engage in local licensing of marijuana stores, 

is also reflected in various provisions of the Colorado Retail Code, Article 43.4 of Title 12, 

C.R.S.; and 

 

WHEREAS, at the Special Election held on November 3, 2020 the voters of Paonia have 

determined that the Town of Paonia should allow retail and/or medical marijuana stores within 

the Town, subject to zoning restrictions set forth in the Municipal Code and the licensing and 

other limitations, restrictions and regulations provided for in this ordinance. 

 

  NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF 

THE TOWN OF PAONIA, as follows: 

 

Section 1.  Chapter 6 of the Paonia Municipal Code is hereby amended to add a new Article 4, to 

read as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 4 

PAONIA MARIJUANA CODE 

Sections: 

 6-4-10  Purpose and legislative intent 

 6-4-20  Defined terms 

 6-4-30  Effective date; applicability 

 6-4-40  Local licensing authority 

 6-4-50  Relationship to Colorado Retail Marijuana Code; other laws 

 6-4-60  Unlawful acts 

 6-4-70  Classes of licensing authorized 

71



Ordinance 2021-TBD Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 2 

 

 6-4-80  Screening and response to state license applications 

 6-4-90  Licensing requirements—provisions applicable to all licenses 

 6-4-100 Location restrictions and license restrictions  

 6-4-110 Signs and advertising 

6-4-120 Denial for good cause 

 6-4-130 Transfer of ownership 

 6-4-140 Change of location; modification of premises 

 6-4-150 Term of licenses; renewals 

 6-4-160 Suspension or revocation of license 

 6-4-170 Operating fees 

 6-4-180 Public nuisance 

 6-4-190 Occupational Tax on the sale of Marijuana  

 6-4-200 Penalty 

 

 

6-4-10   Purpose and legislative intent.  The purpose of this Chapter 6, Article 4 is to 

exercise the authority of the Town of Paonia to allow state-licensed retail and/or medical 

marijuana stores to exist in Paonia in accordance with the applicable state laws and regulations 

as well as the additional local licensing requirements and other restrictions set forth herein.  This 

Chapter is adopted pursuant to the aforesaid constitutional and statutory authority, as well as the 

Town’s plenary authority as a statutory town to adopt and enforce ordinances under its police 

power in order to preserve the public health, safety and general welfare and its authority to 

regulate businesses. 

 

6-4-20  Defined terms.   

 

The definitions set forth in Subsection 16 (2) of Article XVIII of the Colorado 

Constitution as well as the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code, § 12-43.4-103, C.R.S., as amended, 

shall apply equally to this Chapter 6.  In addition, the following terms shall have the meanings 

respectively assigned to them: 

 

A.  “Applicant” is an agent under written authority, who applies on behalf of a 

domestic entity as defined under C.R.S. § 7-90-102(13) to operate a retail and/or medical 

marijuana store, so long as the written authority is signed by all controlling owners with more 

than twenty-five percent ownership interest in the domestic entity or its sub entities or an 

individual, if applying prior to forming a domestic entity. 

 

B. “Commercial Block”  is the distance from one street to another in a town that is 

built (approximately) to a grid pattern.  

 

"Childcare center" means a facility maintained for the care of children under the age of 

sixteen (16), including, but not limited to, day camps, nursery schools, day care, preschools and 

playschools.  Such facility shall be licensed by the Colorado Department of Human Services. 

 

C. "Colorado Retail Marijuana Code" means Article 43.4 of Title 12 of the Colorado 

Revised Statutes, as amended, including all Rules promulgated pursuant to the Colorado Retail 

72



Ordinance 2021-TBD Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 3 

 

Marijuana Code as set forth in the Colorado Code of Regulations Department of Revenue 

Marijuana Enforcement Division 1 CCR 212.2. 

   

D. "Retail marijuana establishment" means a retail marijuana cultivation facility, a 

retail marijuana products manufacturing facility, or a retail marijuana testing facility. 

 

E. "Retail Marijuana Store" is an entity licensed to purchase marijuana from 

marijuana cultivation facilities and marijuana and marijuana products from marijuana product 

manufacturing facilities and to sell marijuana and marijuana products to consumers, as 

set forth in Section 16 of XVIII of the Colorado Constitution.  

 

F.  "School" means a public or private elementary, middle, junior high, or high 

school.  (Note: "preschools" are included in the Town's definition of "childcare center"). 

 

G. “Land Development Regulations (LDR)” means the land development regulations 

as adopted and updated periodically by the Town of Paonia. 

 

  H. “Marijuana License Cap” is the maximum licenses issued by the Town at any one 

time being no more than one (1) retail and/or medical marijuana store per commercial block, and 

no more than twelve 12 total licenses, and not .   more than six (6) total locations.   

 

  I. “Medical Marijuana Store” is a person licensed to operate a business under C.R.S. 

§ 44-10-104, as amended, that sells medical marijuana to registered patients or primary 

caregivers as defined in Section 14 of Article XVIII of the Colorado Constitution, but 

is not a primary caregiver. 

 

6-4-30  Effective date; applicability. 

   

This Article 4 shall be effective thirty (30) days after final adoption and publication in the 

newspaper of public record; and shall govern all applications submitted to the state licensing 

authority for licensing of any retail and/or medical marijuana store in the Town under the 

Colorado Retail Marijuana Code on and after that date. 

 

6-4-40  Local licensing authority. 

 

A. The Board of Trustees is hereby designated to act as the local licensing authority 

for the Town regarding retail and/or medical marijuana stores.  Under any and all circumstances 

in which state law requires communication to the Town by the state licensing authority or any 

other state agency in regard to the licensing of retail and/or medical marijuana stores by the state, 

or in which state law requires any review or approval by the Town of any action taken by the 

state licensing authority, the exclusive authority for receiving such communications and granting 

such approvals shall be exercised by the Board. 

 

B. Under no circumstances shall the Board of Trustees receive or act upon any 

application for local licensing of a retail and/or medical marijuana store in circumstances where 

the state has failed to act in accordance with Section 16 of Article XVIII of the Colorado 

73



Ordinance 2021-TBD Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 4 

 

Constitution, it being the intent of this Article that no retail and/or medical marijuana store may 

lawfully exist in the Town of Paonia absent the issuance of a state license and full regulatory 

oversight of the retail and/or medical marijuana store by the state, as well as the Town.  

Accordingly, the Board shall not receive or act upon any application for licensing submitted 

independently and in lieu of state licensing if the state fails to act within ninety (90) days on any 

specific application for licensing of a retail and/or medical marijuana store in accordance with 

paragraph 16(5)(g)(III) of Article XVIII of the Colorado Constitution. 

  

C. Any decision made by the local licensing authority to grant or deny a license, to 

revoke or suspend a license, or to renew or not renew a license shall be a final decision and may 

be appealed to the district court pursuant to Rule 106(a)(4) of the Colorado Rules of Civil 

Procedure. 

 

6-4-50  Relationship to Colorado Retail Marijuana Code; other laws.   

 

Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, this Article 4 incorporates the 

requirements and procedures set forth in the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code.  In the event of 

any conflict between the provisions of this Article 4 and the provisions of the Colorado Retail 

Marijuana Code or any other applicable state or local law, the more restrictive provision shall 

control, except that the location requirements and restrictions set forth in Section 6-4-100 shall 

apply in all situations of conflict between such provisions and the provisions of state law or 

regulation regarding matters where the exercise of discretion by local jurisdictions is granted by 

the constitution or laws of the State of Colorado. 

 

6-4-60  Unlawful acts. 

 

A. It shall be unlawful for any person to operate any retail and/or medical marijuana 

store in the Town without a license duly issued therefor by the state licensing authority under the 

Colorado Retail Marijuana Code and compliance with any and all applicable state laws. 

 

B. It shall be unlawful for any person to operate any retail and/or medical marijuana 

store in the Town without a license duly issued therefor by the Board of Trustees under this 

Article 4 and compliance with any and all applicable Town laws. 

 

C. It shall be unlawful for any person to engage in any form of business or 

commerce involving the cultivation, processing, manufacturing, storage, sale, distribution or 

consumption of marijuana other than those forms of businesses and commerce that are expressly 

contemplated by Sections 14 and 16 of Article XVIII of the Colorado Constitution and/or the 

Colorado Retail Marijuana Code. 

 

D. It shall be unlawful for any licensed retail and/or medical marijuana store to sell, 

serve, distribute, or initiate the transport of retail and/or medical marijuana or retail and/or 

medical marijuana products at any time other than between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 12:00 a.m. 

daily. 

 

6-4-70   Classes of licensing authorized.   

74



Ordinance 2021-TBD Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 5 

 

 

For the purpose of regulating the cultivation, manufacturing, testing, distribution, offering 

for sale, and sale of retail and/or medical marijuana, the Board of Trustees, at the Board’s 

discretion, upon application in the prescribed form made to Tthe Board, may issue and grant to 

the applicant a local license from any of the following classes, and the Town hereby authorizes 

the issuance of the licenses of the following classes by the state licensing authority within the 

Town, subject to the provisions, limitations and restrictions set forth in this Article 4: 

 

A. Retail marijuana store.  

 

B. Medical marijuana store.  

 

(Note: A Retail Marijuana Store may be located on the same licensed premises as a Medical 

Marijuana Store and may be operated by the same licensee, subject to compliance with all state 

requirements and the requirements of this Town Marijuana Code, and the issuance of a state 

license allowing for such co-location.)  

 

6-4-80   Screening and response to state license applications. 

 

A. Upon receipt of notice from the state licensing authority of any application for a 

license under the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code, the Town Clerk shall: 

 

  1. Determine, in consultation with the Town Administrator, or his/her 

designee, whether the location proposed for licensing complies with any and all applicable 

zoning and land use laws of the Town, and any and all restrictions on location of retail and/or 

medical marijuana stores set forth in this Article 4.  If the Town makes an initial determination 

that the proposed license would be in violation of any zoning law or other restriction on location 

set forth in the Town’s laws, the Town shall, no later than forty-five (45) days from the date the 

application was originally received by the state licensing authority, notify the state licensing 

authority and the applicant for state licensing in writing that the application is disapproved by the 

Town.  The failure of the Town to make such a determination upon the initial review of a state 

license application shall not preclude the Town from later determining that the proposed license 

is in violation of Town’s zoning laws or any other restriction on location set forth in Town laws 

and disapprove the issuance of a state or Town license on this basis. 

 

  2. For any application that is not disapproved as provided in paragraph 1 of 

this Subsection A, the Town shall notify the state licensing authority and the applicant for state 

licensing in writing that the Town’s further consideration of the application is subject to a local 

licensing process, and that the Town’s ultimate decision to approve or disapprove the issuance of 

the state license for a retail and/or medical marijuana store proposed to be located in the Town of 

Paonia will be subject to the completion of the local licensing process, as set forth in this Article 

4, after which the Town will notify the state licensing authority in writing of whether or not the 

retail and/or medical marijuana store proposed in the application has or has not been approved by 

the Town. 

 

6-4-90   Licensing requirements—provisions applicable to all licenses. 

75



Ordinance 2021-TBD Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 6 

 

 

A. Criteria for licensing.  The Board of Trustees shall consider and act upon all local 

license applications in accordance with the standards and procedures set forth in this Article 4.  

The Board may deny any application for a license that is not in full compliance with the 

Colorado Retail Marijuana Code, this Article 4, and any other applicable state or Town law or 

regulation.  The Board also shall deny any application that contains any false or incomplete 

information. 

   

B. Application forms and supplemental materials.  All applications for local 

licensing shall be made upon forms provided by the Town and shall include such supplemental 

materials as required by the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code and rules adopted pursuant thereto, 

including by way of example: proof of possession of the licensed premises, disclosures related to 

ownership of the proposed business, fingerprints of the applicants, building plans, and security 

plans.  To the extent any of the foregoing supplemental materials have been included with the 

applicant’s state license application and forwarded to the Town by the state licensing authority, 

the Town Clerk may rely upon the information forwarded from the state without requiring re-

submittal of the same materials in conjunction with the local license application.  The Town 

may, at the Town’s discretion, require additional documentation associated with the application 

as may be necessary to enforce the requirements of the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code and this 

Article 4. 

   

C. Tax bond.  Before the Board of Trustees issues a Town license to an applicant for 

a retail and/or medical marijuana store license, the applicant shall procure and file with the Town 

evidence of good and sufficient bond in the amount of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) 

with corporate surety thereon duly licensed to do business with the State of Colorado, approved 

as to form by the Town’s Attorney, and conditioned that the applicant shall report and pay all 

Town sales and use taxes as provided by law.  A corporate surety shall not be required to make 

payments to the Town claiming under such bond until a final determination of failure to pay 

taxes due to the Town has been made by the Finance Officer or a court of competent jurisdiction.  

All bonds required pursuant to this subsection shall be renewed at such times as the bondholder's 

license is renewed.  The renewal may be accomplished through a continuation certificate issued 

by the surety.   

   

D. Area maps.  All applications for retail and/or medical marijuana store licensing 

submitted pursuant to this Article 4 shall include an area map drawn to scale indicating land uses 

of other properties within five hundred (500) feet of each boundary of the lot or parcel upon 

which the applicant proposes a licensed premise.  The map shall depict the proximity of the 

property to be used as the licensed premises to any school or childcare facility of the type 

referenced in Section 6-4-100. 

 

E. Notice of applications to departments and agencies.  Upon receipt of an 

application for any class of local marijuana store license, the Town Clerk shall give notice of the 

application to the Town Administrator, the Finance Officer, the Building Official, the Chief of 

the Paonia Police Department, the Chief of the Paonia Fire Protection District #2 and appropriate 

county or local health officials.  Any applicant for a license under this Article 4 shall obtain any 

and all necessary permits, licenses and other regulatory approvals from the other affected Town 

76



Ordinance 2021-TBD Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 7 

 

departments and agencies prior to the issuance of a license under this Article 4.  The Town also 

will consider any recommendations made by the Paonia Fire Protection District #2. 

   

F. Background checks and determination of good character and state residency.  

Prior to the issuance of any local license, the Board of Trustees shall make a finding as to the 

good moral character of the applicant and compliance with state residency requirements in 

accordance with the standards and procedures set forth in the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code, 

pursuant to C.R.S. 44-10-307.    In so doing, the Board may incorporate into its findings any 

findings as to good character and residency previously made by the state licensing authority and 

rely upon such findings in making its determination.  The Board shall not be required to perform 

a criminal background check if the state licensing authority has already performed a criminal 

background check on the applicant. 

 

GH.   A license pursuant to this ordinance does not eliminate the need for the 

licensee to obtain other Town licenses and permits, including, but not limited to: 

 

1. Any land use approval, if applicable; 

 

2.  State sales tax license; or 

 

3.  Building, mechanical, plumbing, electrical or fire permit(s). 

 

6-4-100  Location restrictions and license restrictions  

 

A. Permitted locations for sales.  All retail and/or medical marijuana store licenses 

shall be issued for a specific fixed location which shall be designated the licensed premises.  

Except as provided in Subsection D, all sales, deliveries and other transfers of marijuana and 

marijuana products by a licensee shall be made at or from the licensed premises. 

   

B. Distance from schools.  No retail and/or medical marijuana store license shall be 

granted with respect to a proposed licensed premise that would be located within five hundred 

(500) feet of any school that existed at the time of the filing of a complete application for a retail 

and/or medical marijuana store license with the Town Clerk. 

  

C. Distance from certain childcare facilities.  No retail and/or medical marijuana 

store license shall be granted with respect to a proposed licensed premises that would be located 

within five hundred (500) feet of any licensed residential child care facility, as defined in Title 

26 of the Colorado Revised Statutes, that existed at the time of the filing of a complete 

application for a retail and/or medical marijuana store license with the Town. 

 

D. No mobile facilities and restrictions regarding deliveries. 

 

  1. No retail and/or medical marijuana store shall be located in a movable or 

mobile vehicle or structure. 

 

77



Ordinance 2021-TBD Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 8 

 

  2. No retail and/or medical marijuana or marijuana product shall be delivered 

in the Town unless under the following restrictions;  

 

      (i)   such delivery is by a retail and/or medical marijuana store licensed 

by the state to another retail and/or medical marijuana store licensed by the state and the Town, 

and such delivery is specifically permitted by the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code; or  

  

   (ii) such delivery is by a retail and/or medical marijuana store licensed 

by the Town and also license by the state with a retail marijuana transporter license pursuant to 

C.R.S. 44-10-605 or a medical marijuana transporter license pursuant to C.R.S. 44-10-505.   

 

  3. All sales and distribution of marijuana and marijuana products by a 

licensed retail and/or medical marijuana store shall occur only upon the licensed premises, unless 

delivered by a licensed retail and/or medical marijuana transporter.  However, in no event shall 

any sale or distribution of a Town licensed retail and/or medical marijuana store shall occur 

outside the limits of the Town.   

  

E. Measurement of distance.  Any distance specified in Subsection B or C of this 

section shall be computed by direct measurement from the nearest property line of the lot or 

parcel upon which a school or child care facility referenced in Subsection B or C is situated to 

the nearest property line of the land used or proposed for use as a licensed retail and/or medical 

marijuana store, using a route of direct pedestrian access, measured as a person would walk 

safely and properly, without trespassing, with right angles at crossings and with the observance 

of traffic regulations and lights. 

 

F. Places where retail and/or medical marijuana stores are prohibited.  No licensed 

retail and/or medical marijuana store shall be operated within the boundaries of any residential 

zone district of the Town as those boundaries exist at the time any complete application for any 

class of retail and/or medical marijuana store license is filed with the Town Clerk. No licensed 

retail and/or medical marijuana store shall be operated within a C-1 or C-2 spot zoned location.  

Retail and/or medical marijuana stores shall only be operated within the boundaries of a C-1 or 

C-2 commercial zone district of the as those boundaries exist at the time any complete 

application is filed with the Town Clerk.    

 

G. Any retail and/or medical marijuana licensee  

 

HG.  The number of licenses in the Town are limited as follows:  

 

1.   The total number of Retail Marijuana Store licenses combined is limited to 

six (6).  

2.   The total number of Medical Marijuana Store licenses combined is limited   

to six (6).   

 

3.  A licensee and a licensed facility can have both a Retail Marijuana Store 

license and a Medical Marijuana Store license.   However, a licensee cannot hold more than one 

(1) Retail Marijuana Store license and not more than one (1) Medical Marijuana Store license.   

78



Ordinance 2021-TBD Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 9 

 

  

4. In no event shall there be more than twelve (12) total licenses, at six (6) 

locations, issued by the Town.   

 

I.H.  All licensees shall put their license(s) to use within sixty (60) days of issuance.  

Should a license not be put to use sixty (60) days after the issuance date, the license shall be 

forfeited and revert to the Town.  The Town Clerk is granted the authority to effectuate the 

forfeiture and return of any unused licenses.   

 

6-4-110  Signs and advertising. 
   

A. Any person or premises licensed as a retail and/or medical marijuana store shall 

comply with all Town ordinances regulating signs and advertising. In addition, no licensed retail 

and/or medical marijuana store shall use any advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, 

or false, or that, as evidenced either by the content of the advertising material or by the medium 

or the manner in which the advertising is disseminated, is designed to appeal to minors. 

 

B. For purposes of this section, the terms "advertise," "advertising" or 

"advertisement" mean the act of drawing the public's attention to a retail and/or medical 

marijuana store or retail and/or medical marijuana products manufacturer in order to promote the 

sale of retail and/or medical marijuana by the store or the manufacturer. 

  

C. Except as otherwise provided in this Subsection C, it shall be unlawful for any 

person licensed under this Title or any other person to advertise any retail and/or medical 

marijuana or retail and/or medical marijuana product anywhere in the Town where the 

advertisement is visible to members of the public from any street, sidewalk, park or other public 

place, including advertising utilizing any of the following media: any billboard or other outdoor 

general advertising device as defined by the zoning code; any sign mounted on a vehicle, any 

hand-held or other portable sign; or any handbill, leaflet or flier directly handed to any person in 

a public place, left upon a motor vehicle, or posted upon any public or private property without 

the consent of the property owner.  The prohibition set forth in this paragraph shall not apply to: 

 

  1. Any sign located on the same zone lot as a retail and/or medical marijuana 

store which exists solely for the purpose of identifying the location of the retail and/or medical 

marijuana store and which otherwise complies with the Town’s sign code, Chapter 18, Article 6 

of the Town Municipal Code, and any other applicable Town laws and regulations; or 

   

  2. Any advertisement contained within a newspaper, magazine, or other 

periodical of general circulation within the Town; or 

   

  3. Advertising which is purely incidental to sponsorship of a charitable event 

by a retail and/or medical marijuana store or a retail and/or medical marijuana products 

manufacturer. ; or 

 

6-4-120  Denial for good cause. 

 

79



Ordinance 2021-TBD Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 10 

 

A. The Board of Trustees shall have authority to refuse to issue or renew any retail 

and/or medical marijuana store license for good cause, subject to judicial review.  For purposes 

of this section, the term “good cause” means: 

  

 1. The applicant has violated, does not meet, or has failed to comply with 

any of the terms, conditions, or provisions of the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code or any rules 

and regulations promulgated pursuant thereto, or this Title 4 or any rules and regulations 

promulgated pursuant to this Title; 

 

  2. Evidence that the issuance or renewal of the license will adversely impact 

the health, welfare or public safety of the immediate neighborhood in which the retail and/or 

medical marijuana store is located or is proposed to be located; or 

  

 3. Evidence that the licensee or applicant has failed to comply with any 

special terms or conditions that were placed upon the license pursuant to an order of the State 

Licensing Authority or an order of the Local Licensing Authority. 

 

B. Any decision of the Board of Trustees to approve or deny any license application 

shall be in writing, stating the reasons therefor. 

 

6-4-130  Transfer of ownership.   

 

Transfer of ownership of any local license issued pursuant to this Article 4 shall be 

governed by the standards and procedures set forth in the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code and 

any regulations adopted pursuant thereto, and the Board of Trustees shall administer transfers of 

local licenses in the same manner as the state licensing authority administers transfers of state 

licenses.  A license must be held by the licensee for at least one year from the date of issuance by 

the Local Licensing Authority before it may be transferred.   

  

6-4-140  Change of location; modification of premises.   

 

Change of location of any license or any modification of the licensed premises shall be 

governed by the standards and procedures set forth in the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code and 

any regulations adopted pursuant thereto, and the Board of Trustees shall administer applications 

to change location or modify premises in the same manner as the state licensing authority 

administers changes of location and modification of premises for state licenses.  Any proposed 

modification and any new location to which an existing licensed business is transferred shall 

fully comply with the location requirements and the requirements for conformance with current 

zoning as set forth this Title 4. 

 

6-4-150 Term of licenses; renewals.   

 

Any local license issued pursuant to this Title shall be valid for a period of one (1) year 

from the date of issuance.  Any renewal of the license shall be governed by the standards and 

procedures set forth in the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code and any regulations adopted pursuant 

thereto, and the Board of Trustees shall administer license renewals in the same manner as the 

80



Ordinance 2021-TBD Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 11 

 

state licensing authority administers renewals of state licenses. An application for renewal shall 

be made to Staff not less than sixty (60) days prior to the date of expiration and concurrent with 

the application for renewal filed with the state licensing authority, as required. 

 

  6-4-160  Suspension or revocation of license. 

  

A. A license may be suspended or revoked by the Board of Trustees for any of the 

following reasons: 

   

  1. Fraud, misrepresentation, or a false statement of material fact contained in 

the license application;  

 

  2. A violation of any Town, State or Federal law or regulation, other than 

federal law or regulation concerning the production, transportation, possession, sale or 

distribution of marijuana that conflicts with Amendment 64;  

 

  3. A violation of any of the terms and conditions of the license, including any 

special conditions of approval imposed upon the license;  

 

4. A violation of any of the provisions set forth in this ordinance; or 

 

5. Cessations of operation at the center for more than thirty (30) days. 

 

  B. The Town shall notify the licensee of the issuance of a show cause order to 

suspend or revoke the license.  Notice shall be given by mailing a copy or served by the Paonia 

Police Department of the order to the licensee by registered mail to the address shown on the 

license.  Notice is deemed to have been properly given upon mailing. 

 

C. A hearing shall then be scheduled before the Board of Trustees within forty-five 

(45) days of the notice of the show cause order.  Such hearing may be continued for good cause. 

The burden of proof at the hearing shall be on the Town. 

 

D. If the Board of Trustees finds a preponderance of the evidence that the allegations 

in the show cause order are sustained, the Board of Trustees shall issue such order in writing to 

the licensee within ten (10) days. 

 

E. Upon such findings, the Board of Trustees shall have the power to revoke, 

suspend, and/or place additional reasonable conditions on the license. 

 

6-4-170  Operating Fees and License Term.   

 

A.  When the application is filed, the applicant shall pay to the Town the applicable 

application and other fees, as set forth by resolution. 

 

  B.  Any renewal application filed late will be subject to a late fee and Staff has no 

authority to waive such late fee. 

81



Ordinance 2021-TBD Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 12 

 

 

C.  If an application is approved, the applicant shall pay an annual operating fee, if 

applicable, in such amount as may established from time to time by the Board of Trustees as 

adopted from time to time by Resolution.  

 

D.  Each license issued pursuant to Article 6 shall be valid for a period of one (1) year 

from the date of issuance and may be renewed as provided in this Section.  

 

E. All other fees shall be set by and may be subject to amendment via resolution.  

 

F. All fees shall be non-refundable.  

 

6-4-180  Public nuisance. 
 

A. The unlawful cultivation, manufacturing, sale, offer for sale, or distribution of 

retail and/or medical marijuana without a license is hereby declared to be a nuisance which may 

be abated or otherwise dealt with in accordance with the provisions of the Paonia Municipal 

Code. 

 

6-4-190 Occupational Tax on the sale of marijuana.  

 

 There shall be an occupational tax of Five Dollars ($5.00) per sales transaction on the 

sale of retail and medical marijuana and marijuana products within the Town as further defined 

in Chapter 4 of the Town Code.   

 

6-4-200 Penalty.  

 

 Failure to comply with the provisions of this Chapter 6, Article 4, shall constitute a 

violation, and in addition to being grounds for denial, suspension or revocation of a license, such 

violation may be punished by a civil penalty of not less than Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00) 

nor more than Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00), per violation.  Each day of noncompliance 

may constitute a separate violation.  Prosecution of a violation of this Chapter 6, Article 4 shall 

be by the Town Municipal Court.   

 

Section 2.  Severability.   

   

If any provision, clause, sentence or paragraph of this Ordinance or the application 

thereof to any person or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the 

other provisions of this Ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or 

application, and, to this end, the provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable.  

 

Section 3.  Repeal of Prior Ordinances.  

 

All other ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.  

 

Section 4.  Ordinance Effect. 

82



Ordinance 2021-TBD Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 13 

 

 

Existing ordinances or parts of ordinances covering the same matters as embraced in this 

Ordinance are hereby repealed and any and all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with 

the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed; provided, however, that the repeal of any 

ordinance or parts of ordinances of the Town shall not revive any other section of any ordinance 

or ordinances hereto before repealed or superseded, and further provided that this repeal shall not 

affect or prevent the prosecution or punishment of any person for any act done or committed in 

violation of any ordinance hereby repealed prior to the taking effect of this Ordinance.  

 

Section 5.  Effective Date. 

 

This Ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after passage and publication.       

 

INTRODUCED, READ AND REFERRED before the Board of Trustees for the Town of 

Paonia, Colorado, on the 24th day of March2021. 

 

HEARD AND FINALLY ADOPTED by the Town of Paonia Board of Trustees for the 

Town of Paonia, Colorado, on the ____day of _________ 2021. 

  

 

TOWN OF PAONIA 
 

          By: ________________________________ 

    Mary Bachran, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________________ 

Corinne Ferguson, Town/Administrator Clerk 

 

 

 

83



324506164001

324505230001

324505265002
324506119007

324506118010

324506118014

324506119010

324506123012 324506122001

324505215005
324506119012

324506123010

324506119011

324506118004 324506119004 324505215004
324505215003

324505215006

324505215007

324505266001

324506120007

324506114006

324506129002

324506113008324506112010 324506115010

324506115008

324506115007

324506112013

324506116009

324506128001

324506115015

324506126003

324506126013

324506116005

324506116007
324506116013

324506116006
324506116015

324506114017

324506165001

324506114019

324506114023

324506113012

324506113011

324506113010

324506125002 324506124002

324506116010

324506114016

324506180001

324506128029

324506114001

324506113013

324506112012

324506112016

324506112017

324506129022

324506115012

324506200028

324506200051

324506111003

324506112009

324506112005

324506112006

324506112007

324506100041

324506112008

318731400019 318731400020

318731408002

318731408001

324506113014

324506179017 324506116003

324506113015

324506112021

324506115005

318731400013

324506114013

324506114015 324506115016
324506112014

318731400011

318731400018

324506112022 324506116004
324506178002

324506100043

324506169001

324506100018

324506115001

318731400099

324506100003

324506100042

324506105002

324506100002

318731400017

324506114011

324506169002

324506100004

324506100005

324506100006

324506100007

324506100014

324506100015

324506100017

324506106002

324506100013

324506114014

318731400023
318731400014

324506100001

324506175001

324506174003

324506109004

324506201005
324506163001

324506112003

324506112004

324506201006

318731400010

318731400008

324506175002

324506119014

324506117001 324506158001

318731405025

318732315003

318732315004

318731402015

324506120002
324506118001324506119002

318731402003

318731405006318731405016

318731403005

318732314003

318731405002

318732315001

318731405026 318731403004

324506157001

318732315002

324506101004

324505212001
324506102001

324506116016

324506104002

324506104001

318731403001
318731401005

318731404002
318731401002

318731402016

318731402006

318731403003
318731402010

324506101005

324506118003

324506120001

324506116001

318731402004318731402009

318731402005

318731402012

318731405018 318731405004

318731405015 318731405007

324506101002

318732312001

318731405001
318731405020

324506102003

324506102002

324506176002

318731405024

318731405021

318731402002

324506159001

324506101006

324506105001

318731405019

Property Owner Notification

© OpenStreetMap (and) contributors, CC-BY-SA

12/15/2020, 1:15:58 PM
0 0.06 0.120.03 mi

0 0.1 0.190.05 km

1:4,514

Delta County GIS

84



85



86



1 

 

Memorandum 

TO: Paonia Board of Trustees, Mayor Bachran and Corinne Ferguson 

FROM: Paige Smith, 215 Delta Ave. Paonia 

Date: April 5, 2021 

Subject: Comments regarding Ordinance No. 2021-01, as presented at the March 23, 2021, 

Town Board meeting 

Comment no. 1: Page 1, first “WHEREAS” 

Should this statement also include a reference to the Colorado Medical Marijuana Code, Article 

43.3 of Title 12, C.R.S. as an enabling counterpart to the reference to the Colorado Retail 

Marijuana Code, Article 43.4 of Title 12, C.R.S. provided in the third “WHEREAS”? 

Comment no. 2: Page 1, second “WHEREAS”  

This provision should be modified as shown below: 

“WHEREAS, Section 16 of Article XVIII of the Colorado Constitution, also commonly 

known as Amendment 64 of 2012, authorizes a system of state licensing for businesses 

engaging in the cultivation, testing, manufacturing and retail sale of marijuana, 

collectively referred to as “marijuana stores” by the Constitution.” 

The language shown in strike-out must be removed from this Ordinance because it is falsely 

attributing a definition for “marijuana stores” to the Colorado Constitution which does not exist. 

However, a definition for “retail marijuana store” has been adopted into the Colorado 

Constitution and coincidentally it is accurately presented in Section 6-4-20 Defined Terms. in 

the draft Ordinance as -  

 “Retail Marijuana Store” means an entity licensed to purchase marijuana from marijuana 

cultivation facilities and marijuana and marijuana products from marijuana product 

manufacturing facilities and to sell marijuana and marijuana products to consumers as set 

forth in Section 16 of XVIII of the Colorado Constitution. 

By including the language shown in strike-out above, the Ordinance could essentially allow for 

the wholesale licensing of cultivation, testing and manufacturing forms of “marijuana 

establishments” under the false premise that each of these is considered to be a “marijuana 

store.” This misrepresents what the voters approved. 

Comment no. 3: Page 1, third “WHEREAS” 

“WHEREAS, Subsection 16(5)(f) of Article XVIII allows localities within their 

respective jurisdictions: to prohibit state licensing of marijuana establishments; to 

regulate the time, place and manner in which retail marijuana stores may operate; and to 

limit the total number of retail marijuana stores. The authority of localities to prohibit or 

regulate retail marijuana stores within their respective jurisdictions, including the 

authority to engage in local licensing of retail marijuana stores, is also reflected in 

87



2 

 

various provisions of the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code, Article 43.4 of Title 12, 

C.R.S.; and” 

The term “retail” must be included when referencing “marijuana store(s)” as this is the term 

expressly defined in the Colorado Constitution. In addition, it should be clarified that this 

Ordinance is reflecting the provisions provided in the properly referenced Colorado Retail 

“Marijuana” Code. 

Comment no. 4: Page 1, fourth “WHEREAS”   

“WHEREAS, at the Special Election held on November 3, 2020, a majority of the voters 

of Paonia approved the following two ballot questions: 1) “Shall the establishment and 

operation of retail and medical marijuana stores be permitted in the town of Paonia, 

Colorado subject to the requirements of the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code and 

regulations set by the Board of Trustees?” and 2) “Shall town of Paonia taxes be 

increased by $200,000.00 annually in the first fiscal year, and such amounts as are 

raised annually thereafter, with the levy of an occupational tax of $5.00 per sales 

transaction, effective January 1, 2021, on the sale of retail and medical marijuana and 

marijuana products within the Town of Paonia, with the resulting tax revenue used for 

infrastructure repair and improvements, including but not limited to town streets, 

sidewalks, curb, gutter, drainage, landscaping, lighting and streetscape amenities, 

through 2025, and thereafter allocated annually by the Board of Trustees?” have 

determined that the Town of Paonia should allow retail and/or medical marijuana stores 

within the Town, which now must be implemented subject to zoning restrictions set forth 

in the Municipal Code and the licensing and other limitations, location restrictions and 

regulations provided for in this ordinance.” 

This statement should be reworded as presented above to accurately reflect what the voters 

approved and to provide a historical record of how taxes collected are to be spent. 

Comment no. 5: Page 2, 6-4-170 Operating fees and License Term 

The phrase “and License Term” needs to be added to the title for Section 6-4-170 on page 2 to 

accurately match the title provided on page 11. 

Comment no. 6: Page 3, 6-4-20 Defined terms. 

“D. "Retail marijuana establishment" means a retail marijuana cultivation facility, a retail 

marijuana products manufacturing facility, or a retail marijuana testing 

facility.   "Marijuana establishment" means a marijuana cultivation facility, a marijuana 

testing facility, a marijuana product manufacturing facility, or a retail marijuana store.” 

 

This definition (D.) must be removed and replaced with the underlined text provided because the 

definition as currently proposed in the draft Ordinance does not match the definition for 

“Marijuana establishment” as adopted in the Colorado Constitution as follows: 

 

88



3 

 

Sec 16 (2) (i) "Marijuana establishment" means a marijuana cultivation facility, a marijuana 

testing facility, a marijuana product manufacturing facility, or a retail marijuana store. 

 

Comment no. 7: Page 3, 6-4-20 Defined terms. 

 

“G. Land Development Regulations (LDR)” means the land development regulations as 

adopted and updated periodically by the Town of Paonia.” 

 

This definition (G.) must be removed because there is no longer a specific Chapter or Article 

regarding “Land Development Regulations” currently included in the Town Code for the town of 

Paonia and the terms “land development regulations” or “LDR” do not appear elsewhere in this 

draft Ordinance, making the inclusion of this definition unnecessary. 

 

Comment no. 8: Page 3, 6-4-20 Defined terms. 
 

“H. “Marijuana License Cap” is the maximum licenses issued by the Town at any one 

time being no more than one (1) retail and/or medical marijuana store per commercial 

block, and no more than twelve 12 total licenses.” 

This term is not found elsewhere in this draft Ordinance and therefore should not be included in 

the Defined terms subsection. 

Comment no. 9: Page 3, 6-4-20 Defined terms. 
 

“I. “Medical Marijuana Store” is means a person licensed to operate a business under as 

described in C.R.S. § 44-10-104 44-10-501, as amended, that sells medical marijuana to 

registered patients or primary caregivers as defined in Section 14 of Article XVIII of the 

Colorado Constitution, but is not a primary caregiver.” 

This definition (I.) requires modification in order to accurately duplicate the content of the 

definition (which follows) as adopted in C.R.S. § 44-10-103. Definitions.  

(40) "Medical marijuana store" means a person licensed pursuant to this article 10 to operate a 

business as described in section 44-10-501 that sells medical marijuana to registered patients or 

primary caregivers as defined in section 14 of article XVIII of the state constitution, but is not a 

primary caregiver. 

Comment no. 10: Page 4, 6-4-60 Unlawful acts. 

“C. It shall be unlawful for any person to engage in any form of business or commerce 

involving the cultivation, processing, manufacturing, storage, sale, distribution or 

consumption of marijuana other than those forms of businesses and commerce that are 

expressly contemplated by Sections 14 and 16 of Article XVIII of the Colorado 

Constitution and/or the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code.” 

89



4 

 

The town of Paonia is not allowing or regulating the “cultivation, processing, manufacturing” of 

marijuana, therefore, inclusion of these types of activities in this provision appears to be 

unnecessary and problematic if maintained. 

Comment no. 11: Page 4, 6-4-60 Unlawful acts. 

This Section would appear to be the location to provide for the prohibition of selling marijuana 

to a minor (anyone under the age of 21). This prohibition is not found in the draft Ordinance and 

the definition of a minor is not included in Section 6-4-20, yet is referenced in Section 6-4-110. 

Comment no. 12: Page 5, 6-4-70 Classes of licenses authorized. 

“For the purpose of regulating the cultivation, manufacturing, testing, distribution, 

offering for sale, and sale of retail and/or medical marijuana, the Board of Trustees, at the 

Board’s discretion, upon application in the prescribed form made to the Board, may issue 

and grant to the applicant a local license from any of the following classes, and the Town 

hereby authorizes the issuance of the licenses of the following classes by the state 

licensing authority within the Town, subject to the provisions, limitations and restrictions 

set forth in this Article 4:” 

The town of Paonia is not allowing or regulating the “cultivation, manufacturing, testing” of 

marijuana, therefore, inclusion of these types of activities in this provision appears to be 

unnecessary and problematic if maintained. 

Comment no. 13: Page 8, 6-4-100 Location restrictions and license restrictions. 

“D.3. All sales and distribution of marijuana and marijuana products by a licensed retail 

and/or medical marijuana store shall occur only upon the licensed premises, unless 

delivered by a licensed retail and/or medical marijuana transporter. However, in no event 

shall any sale or distribution of from a Town licensed retail and/or medical marijuana 

store shall be delivered to a location occur outside the limits of the Town.” 

Wording changes are recommended to clarify the intent of this provision. 

Comment no. 14: Page 8, 6-4-100 Location restrictions and license restrictions. 

“F. Places where retail and/or medical marijuana stores are prohibited. No licensed retail 

and/or medical marijuana store shall be operated within the boundaries of any residential 

zone district of the Town as those boundaries exist at the time any complete application 

for any class of retail and/or medical marijuana store license is filed with the Town Clerk. 

Retail and/or medical marijuana stores shall only be operated within the boundaries of a 

C-1 or C-2 commercial zone district of the as those boundaries exist at the time any 

complete application is filed with the Town Clerk.” 

In order to ensure that a retail and/or medical marijuana store is never located in any zoning 

district within the Town other than a C-1 or C-2 commercial zone district, it seems best to 

maintain only that single statement. Otherwise, by remaining silent in the first sentence on the 

other zones currently classified by the town of Paonia, the ability for locating within another 

90



5 

 

zone (i.e., industrial, mobile home, developing resource district, etc.) could be inadvertently 

allowed in the future. 

Comment no. 15: Page 9, 6-4-110 Signs and advertising. 

The regulations adopted by the Colorado Department of Revenue (R1100 and M1100 series) 

provide very prescriptive requirements and restrictions on signs and advertising for retail or 

medical marijuana stores. The provisions being proposed in 6-4-110 represent only a small 

portion of the requirements codified in the R1100 and M1100 series and in some instances, the 

text in this draft Ordinance is less stringent than the counterpart regulations. It is recommended 

that this section be revised to reference the state regulations and where a specific rule is 

considered necessary for inclusion, ensure that the wording is identical to the state regulation. 

Comment no. 16: Page 10, 6-4-140 Change of Location; modification of premises 

“Change of location of any license or any modification of the licensed premises shall be 

governed by the standards and procedures set forth in the Colorado Retail Marijuana 

Code and any regulations adopted pursuant thereto, and the Board of Trustees shall 

administer applications to change location or modify premises in the same manner as the 

state licensing authority administers changes of location and modification of premises for 

state licenses. Any proposed modification and any new location to which an existing 

licensed business is transferred shall fully comply with the location requirements set forth 

in this Article 4 and the requirements for conformance with current zoning as set forth 

this Title 4.” 

Changes recommended to ensure clarity regarding Article 4 being adopted, not Title 4. 

Comment no. 17: Page 11, 6-4-160 Suspension or revocation of license. 

“B. The Town shall notify the licensee of the issuance of a show cause order to suspend 

or revoke the license. Notice shall be given by mailing a copy or served by the Paonia 

Police Department of the order to the licensee by registered mail to the address shown on 

the license. Notice is deemed to have been properly given upon mailing.” 

The provision provide above is confusing (confusing text is shown in italics) and requires 

clarification. 

Comment no. 18: Page 11 and 12, 6-4-170 Operating Fees and License Term.  

“A. When the application is filed, the applicant shall pay to the Town the applicable 

application and other fees, as set forth by resolution adopted by the Board of Trustees. 

B. Any renewal application filed late will be subject to a late fee, as set forth by 

resolution adopted by the Board of Trustees and Staff has no authority to waive such late 

fee. 

C. If an application is approved, the applicant shall pay an annual operating fee, if 

applicable, in such amount as set forth by resolution adopted by the Board of Trustees 

91



6 

 

may established from time to time by the Board of Trustees as adopted from time to time 

by Resolution. 

D. Each license issued pursuant to Article 6 4 shall be valid for a period of one (1) year 

from the date of issuance and may be renewed as provided in this Section 150. 

E. All other fees shall be set by and may be subject to amendment via resolution.” 

It seems improper to reference “other fees” within paragraphs A. and E. This draft Ordinance 

should clearly prescribe what a person doing business in Paonia can expect to pay in fees and 

taxes. What exactly is meant by “other fees” and “All other fees”?  

Paragraphs A., B. and C. are each proposed for revision to clarify that all referenced fees will be 

set by resolution of the Board of Trustees.  

Will there be a renewal fee collected? Paragraph B. is silent about a fee being levied.  

The phrase, “if applicable” in Paragraph C. is proposed for deletion. This is a very vague term 

and exactly when wouldn’t the Town require an “annual operating fee”?  

Paragraph D. is improperly referencing Article 6 and the term of the license is provided in 

Section 6-4-150. 

Comment no. 19: Page 12, 6-4-180 Public nuisance. 

“A. The unlawful cultivation, manufacturing, sale, offer for sale, or distribution of retail 

and/or medical marijuana without a license is hereby declared to be a nuisance which 

may be abated or otherwise dealt with in accordance with the provisions of the Paonia 

Municipal Code. “ 

It’s unclear as to why this section regarding “nuisance” is needed. If a person is cultivating or 

manufacturing marijuana, these activities are not allowed in the Town of Paonia and such 

activity should be considered a violation (as explained in 6-4-200 Penalty of the draft 

Ordinance), not a public nuisance. If a person is being unlawful with regards to the sale, offer of 

sale or distribution of retail and/or medical marijuana by conducting this type of business without 

a license, wouldn’t this rise to the level of a “penalty” and not simply be a “nuisance”?  

Perhaps the text in this section regarding the “unlawful cultivation and manufacturing” would be 

more suited for inclusion into 6-4-200. 

Comment no. 20: Page 12, 6-4-190 Occupational Tax on the sale of marijuana. 

“There shall be an occupational tax of Five Dollars ($5.00) per sales transaction on the 

sale of retail and medical marijuana and marijuana products within the Town as further 

defined in Chapter 4 of the Town Code.” 

Chapter 4 of Town Code is silent regarding an “occupational tax,” “a per sales transaction,” “sale 

of retail or medical marijuana,” or “sale of marijuana products.” Please clarify what portion of 

Chapter 4 of Town Code is applicable to this draft Ordinance. 

92



 

April 9, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Proposed Ordinance Language Regarding Outdoor Lighting Regulations 

Summary:   

Updated proposed language for inclusion in an ordinance updating lighting regulations in an 

effort to become a Dark Skies recognized community. 

 

Notes: 

 

Once substantially reviewed and consensus given, Staff will work with the Town Attorney to 

format and provide in an ordinance format. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

93



Paonia Municipal Code X.X 
 

 

CHAPTER X 

SECTION X 

 

Outdoor Lighting Regulations 

 

Subsections: 

6-5-1 Purpose  

6-5-2 Definitions  

6-5-3 Applicability  

6-5-4 General Provisions and Requirements 

6-5-5 Nonconforming Lights. 

6-5-6 Administration and Enforcement. 

6-5-7 Appeals and Variances. 

 

6-5-1 Purpose 

 
1.1 Maintain nighttime visibility and safety while maintaining the rural atmosphere and small 

town character of Paonia. 

 

1.2 Minimize light pollution and glare. Protect citizens from unwanted outdoor lighting that 

would enter homes and businesses.  

 

1.3 Promote energy conservation by promoting efficient use of lighting. 

 

1.4 Prevent unnecessary or inappropriate outdoor lighting that impacts the dark sky resource, 

qualifying Paonia as an International Dark Sky Association (IDA) designated 

community.  

 

1.5 Help mitigate sleep and wildlife migration related issues through use of minimum 

necessary outdoor lighting and by using light bulbs with a warmer color.  

 

6-5-2 Definitions 

 

2.1 Terms used in Outdoor Lighting Regulations 

 

2.1.1    Correlated color temperature (CCT): A specification of the color appearance 

of the light emitted by a lamp, relating its color to the color of light from a 

reference source when heated to a particular temperature, measured in 

degrees kelvin (K). (1)  

2.1.2 Dark Sky resource: The dark sky unpolluted by artificial light sources 

typically as seen on moonless nights. 

 

2.1.3 Fully shielded fixture: An outdoor light fixture that is designed and mounted 

such that the shielding directs all light downward below the horizontal plane. 

 

2.1.4 Lumens: A measure of brightness that is defined as a unit of luminous flux 

in the International System of Units, that is equal to the amount of light 

94



given out through a solid angle by a source of one candela intensity radiating 

in all directions. (1) 850 lumens = 60 watt equivalent (See note 4) 
 

2.1.5 Light Trespass: Light falling where it is not intended to illuminate property, 

grounds, or buildings in an objectionable manner. 

 

2.1.6 Adaptive Controls: devices such as timers, motion-sensors, light-sensitive 

switches, and other means used to actively regulate the emission of light 

from light fixtures. 

 

2.1.7 Multiunit residential properties an undivided or combination of undivided 

lots under one or more ownership or lease arrangements occupied by 

multiple dwelling units 

 

2.1.8 Non-residential an undivided or combination of undivided lots  

under one or more ownership or lease arrangements used for commercial, industrial,  

lodging, institutional, or government use. 

 

2.1.9 Single family residential properties an undivided or combination of 

undivided lots under one ownership occupied by a single family residential 

structure and any accessory dwelling structures. 

 

2.1.10 Mixed use an undivided or combination of undivided lots under one or more 

ownership or lease arrangements used for a mixture of commercial, 

industrial, institutional, government, and residential use. 

 

2.1.11 Lumens per Net Acre: The amount of light specified in lumens that is 

allocated to the developed portion (net acre) of the gross size of a lot parcel 

(Note 2) 
 

6-5-3 Applicability 

 

3.1 All exterior outdoor lighting installed after the effective date of this ordinance shall 

conform to the requirements established by this chapter 6 (TBR) section 5 (TBR). 

 

3.2 Nonconforming Lighting: All lawful nonconforming lighting prior to the effective date of 

this ordinance shall be regulated according to requirements defined in section 6.5.5 (TBR). 

  

 

6-5-4 GENERAL PROVISIONS and REQUIREMENTS 

(A)  All non-exempt outdoor light fixtures and illuminating devices permanently or temporarily 

installed outdoors, including but not limited to devices to illuminate signs, shall meet the 

following requirements: 

 

(1) Exterior lighting shall be fully shielded so no light rays are emitted at angles which 

will allow the light to pass directly off of the premises appurtenant to the fixture.  
 

(2) All Exterior lighting shall be shielded so that all light rays are emitted by the installed 

fixture at angles below the horizontal plane. 

 

95



(2) All fixtures designed to illuminate signs or structures shall be fully shielded and with 

a CCT as specified in items A1 and A4 of General Provisions and Requirements. 

The lighting fixtures shall be mounted above the area of the sign or structure to 

be illuminated. 

 

(3) Blinking, flashing, rotating or moving lights are prohibited 

 

(4) Maximum Color Temperature of all lighting fixtures: The correlated color temperature 

(CCT) of any outdoor lighting fixture shall not exceed three thousand degrees kelvin 

(3000°K) see note 4 below. 
 

(5) The following lumen limits are established to prevent over lighting and are not intended to 

be achieved. Each site should use the lowest amount of lumens needed for the site to 

provide for safety and functionality:  

 

a. For non-residential, and mixed use properties the total amount of outdoor 

lighting shall not exceed twenty-five thousand (25,000) lumens per net acre. 

Each lighting fixture shall be limited to 1500 lumens. 

b. For multiunit residential properties the total amount of outdoor lighting, shall not 

exceed twenty thousand (20,000) lumens per net acre. Each fixture shall be 

limited to 850 lumens. 

c. For single family residential properties, the total amount of outdoor lighting, 

shall not exceed six thousand five hundred (6,500) lumens. Each fixture shall be 

limited to 850 lumens. 

d. All properties shall use adaptive controlled lighting where practical. 

 

(6) Unshielded Lighting shall be prohibited. 

(7) Existing overhead street lighting owned, operated, or leased by the Town of Paonia shall 

be compliant with the listed lighting requirements in sections 6-5-4 (A) items 1 and 4 and 

shall be limited to a lumens cap of  5000 lumens per lamp, unless required for safety 

reasons as approved by town council.  

(8)  Lighting Curfews:  

 

a. Lighting used at community and athletic events shall be turned off one hour after 

the conclusion of the event. 

b. Lighting in Town buildings shall be turned off one hour after close of business 

unless authorized by appropriate Town authority for safety or maintenance 

reasons. 

c. Commercial lighting shall be turned off one hour after close of business, except 

for safety of employees or customers if operations are throughout the night. 

d. Adaptive Controls (such as motion, light sensitive detectors, etc.) shall be used 

in outdoor commercial and residential lighting where practical. 

 

(9)  New Public lighting, owned and operated by the Town of Paonia, either street lights, 

walkway lights, or external building lighting shall be allowed as recommended by the 

Town Administrator in situations where a public health hazard exists which can only be 

mitigated by artificial light at night and shall be in compliance with Subsection (A). 

96



a.  Adaptive controls or curfews shall be employed in all new public outdoor lighting 

installations. 

(10) The following restrictions shall be required on the installation and operation of 

outside illuminated signs 

a. Luminance levels for operation between sunset and sunrise shall not exceed 

100 nits (100 candelas per square meter) as measured under conditions of a full 

white display. 

b. Sign illumination shall be extinguished completely one hour after sunset and 

remain off until one hour before sunrise, or at the close of business; whichever is 

later. 

c. The luminous/illuminated surface area of an individual sign shall not exceed 

200sq ft.  

 

(B) The following are exempt from the provisions of Subsection (A). 

 

(1) Lights used to illuminate athletic fields or outdoor recreation areas shall be exempt 

from provisions of subsection (A) provided all of the following conditions are met. 

 

a. Illuminating Engineering Society (IES) lighting guidelines (RP-6) are 

followed according to the appropriate class of play. 

b. Field lighting is provided exclusively for illumination of the surface of play 

and viewing stands, and not for any other applications  

c. Illuminance levels must be adjustable based on the task (e.g., active play vs. 

field maintenance)  

d. Off-site impacts of the lighting will be limited to the greatest practical extent 

possible  

e. A curfew such that lights must be extinguished by one hour after the end of 

activity, and no later than 10:30 PM Standard Time / 11:30 PM Daylight 

Savings Time. 

f. Timers must be installed to prevent lights being left on accidentally over- 

night by automatically extinguishing them  

 

 

(2) Signs, postings which are illuminated by building interior light sources, such as neon 

signs or other lights, provided such signs are lit only during the property owner's 

business hours. 

(3) Official traffic control devices and lights owned and operated by or pursuant to 

proper authority of the United States of America, the State of Colorado or any of 

their agencies, and such other lights as are specifically required by federal or state 

law. 

(4) Lawful vehicle lights. 

(5) Holiday lights, provided all conditions are met: 

a.  Holiday lighting shall be temporary, and displayed no more than 90 days 

during any one year period.   

97



(6) Flagpoles. Property owners are encouraged to not illuminate flagpoles at night, but 

rather to hoist flags after dawn and lower flags before sunset. If flags are illuminated 

at night, lighting of up to a total of two (2) flags per property is permitted with the 

following conditions: 

a. The flags must either be the flag of the United States of America or the flag 

of the State of Colorado in order for illumination to be permitted. 

b. If nighttime illumination is used, flagpoles with a height greater than 20 feet 

above ground level shall be illuminated only from above. This may be 

achieved by utilizing a luminaire attached to the top of the flagpole or a 

luminaire mounted above the top of the flag pole on a structure within fifteen 

(15) feet of the flag pole and must comply with all sections of this Chapter. 

The total light output from any luminaire mounted on top of or above a flag 

pole shall not exceed 800 initial lumens. 

c. Flag poles with a height equal to or less than twenty (20) feet above ground 

level may be illuminated from below. If ground-level illumination is used, 

flagpoles may be illuminated with up to two (2) spot type luminaires, 

utilizing shields or diffusers to reduce glare, whose maximum combined 

lumen output is 75 lumens per linear foot of pole height, measured from the 

level of the luminaire above grade to the top of the flagpole. Luminaires are 

to be mounted so that their lenses are perpendicular to the flag pole and the 

light output points directly toward the flag(s). 

 

 

 

(C) Interior Lighting. 

 

(1) Interior lighting direct rays shall be blocked from trespassing (straying) beyond the 

property boundaries of the source. 

 

 

 

6-5-5 NONCONFORMING LIGHTS 

 

(A) Lights which were lawfully existing and in use at the time they became nonconforming with 

the requirements of this Section 6-5 by virtue of the initial adoption of this Section, subsequent 

amendment to this Section or by annexation into the Town, may continue to be used and operated 

subject to the limitations of this Section. 

 

(B) The right to operate lawful nonconforming fixtures and or lawful nonconforming lamps shall 

terminate upon any of the following: 

 

(1) Replacement of the light fixture or lamp. 
 

(2) Damage to the light fixture so that the cost of repair is 50% or more of the cost to 

replace it with a conforming fixture. 

 

(C) All nonconforming Public and Private Lighting either, owned or leased shall be brought into 

compliance with section 6.5.4 (TBR) within 10 years from the effective date of this ordinance. 

 

  

 

98



6-5-6 ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT. 

 

(A) The provisions of this Section shall be administered by the building official or other 

authorized Town officer or employee. 

 

(B) It shall be unlawful to violate any provision of this Section. 

 

(C) Any continuing violation of this Section is hereby declared to be nuisance, which may be 

abated by the Town in any lawful manner, or enjoined by a court of competent jurisdiction. 

 

(D) No building permit or occupancy permit shall be issued for work which has noncomplying 

light fixtures. See Town of Paonia Building Permit Checklist (TBR).  

 
(E) Changes or upgrades to existing outdoor lighting will utilize town provided education 

materials on shielded fixtures and energy efficient dark sky compliant lamps - see notes 3-5 

below.  

 

 

6-5-7 APPEALS AND VARIANCES. 

 

(A) Any person aggrieved by an interpretation of this Section or decision of the Town made in 

the administration of this Section, may appeal the interpretation or decision to the the Town 

Lighting Decision Group (TBR) - consisting of the Town Administrator, Chief of Police, Public 

Works Director, and a Trustee from Town Council appointed by the Mayor -  pursuant to the 

review procedure of Section TBD of the Paonia Municipal Code upon payment of a $25.00 

application fee.  

 

(B)  (1) Any person may apply for a variance to the the Town Lighting Decision Group from 

the provisions of this Section upon payment of the $25.00 application fee in accordance with the 

review procedure of Section TBD of the Paonia Municipal Code. 

 

(2) The Town Lighting Decision Group may grant a variance only upon a determination 

that the following criteria are met:   

 

(a) The variance will be consistent with the public health, safety and welfare. 

 

(b) The variance is justified by unreasonable hardship not created by the activities of the 

applicant or strict compliance is unfeasible. 

 

(c) The variance will be substantially consistent with the purposes of this Section to 

avoid nuisances to others, preserve the natural dark sky resource and to maintain IDA community 

dark sky designation, conserve energy, reduce glare, promote traffic and pedestrian safety, 

preserve the small town character of Paonia and promote the Town's master plan. 

 

 

Notes: 

1. Since 2012, the Federal Trade Commission has required that labelling of all light bulbs 

include temperature (Kelvins) and light output (lumens.) Concerning color temperatures, 

99



a CCT of about 5000K approximates sunlight and a CCT of 3000K will have a slightly 

yellow appearance.  
 

2. Lumens per net acre: For example a one acre (44000sqft) lot is developed with a 6000 sqft 

multiunit condo plus a 2000sqft wrap-around deck , a 2000sqft detached garage and adjacent 

developed patio of 1000sqft. Additionally, landscaping improvements around the condo, 

deck, patio and detached garage adds another 5000sq ft bringing the total developed portion 

of the lot to 16000sqft or 16000/44000 – approximately 36% of that gross one acre lot. The 

lumens allocation for this multiunit example is 20000/per net acre or 20000*0.36= 7272 

lumens. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

100



 

 

 

 

3. Color Temperature Comparison: 

 

 

 

 

101



 

 

 

 

4. Lumens to Wattage Conversion:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

102



 

 

 

 

5. Examples of Acceptable and Unacceptable Dark Sky lighting: 

103



 

 

104



 

April 9, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Modification of Board Meeting Schedule 

Summary:  Proposed alternative to the current Board meeting schedule. 

 

 

Notes: 

 

While I understand the concern that the Town has many projects to continue working on and a 

modified schedule may slow that process, I respectfully submit to the Board a request to – as 

Cassandra Shenk discussed with us at the work session – to challenge the status quo.  The 

modified schedule as presented is a minor change in number of meetings that could potentially 

have a positive impact on workload and work product for both the staff and Board – which can 

have a positive effect on the community as well. 

 

This is not about staff inability to do the work at the current level, we have been doing it.  This 

is about slowing down the pace to allow for a better, well thought out product and an 

avoidance of burn out.  Our very small staff produces work product of a large volume, some of 

which never has to go to the Board for review.  But that which does need Board review is out 

as quickly as we produce it, expecting the Board to review, decide, and move on to the next 

item at a rapid pace. 

 

I respectfully request the Board be willing to allow us the opportunity to try the revised 

meeting schedule.  I believe that an opportunity for a longer completion and review of items 

with a major impact on our community is a good thing, not a hindrance to progress. 

 

Thank you. 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

105



 

 

 P.O. Box 3310, 130 N. Park Avenue       Montrose, Colorado 81402               T: 970-249-7000               F: 970-249-8440 

 

DEVOR & PLUMHOFF, LLC                                                                         Bo James Nerlin   

Attorneys and Counselors at Law                        bo@coloradowestlaw.com 

         

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

To: Board of Trustees, Town of Paonia 

From:  Bo James Nerlin, Esq.  

Re:  Modification of the Board Meeting Schedule 

Date:  4/9/2021 

CC: Ms. Corinne Ferguson  

 

 

 At the March 23, 2021 meeting, I was tasked with providing the Trustees with a memo 

outlining an alternative meeting schedule.   

  

 CURRENT MEETING SCHEDULE 

  

The Board currently meets the second and fourth Tuesday of the Month.  Meetings begin 

at 6:30 pm and shall be adjourned by 9:30 pm, unless the majority of the Trustees vote to extend 

the meeting.  The Cities of Olathe, Ouray and Montrose meet every two weeks.   

  

MONTHLY MEETING SCHEDULE 

  

Several Western Slope municipalities meet once a month, including but not limited to, 

the Town of Hotchkiss, Town of Ridgway, Town of Mountain Village, and the Town of Marble.   

 

REGULAR MEETING – WORKSHOP 

 

Orchard City and Cedaredge have a regular meeting once a month, and a workshop once 

a month.    

 

MEETING EVERY THREE WEEKS 

 

The Town of Telluride has adopted a meeting schedule every three weeks.   

 

REVIEW OF ISSUES  

 

One of the issues that both staff and the Trustees have presented is the time commitment 

that is necessary to prepare for a meeting every two weeks.  Coupled with this is the fact that the 

Trustees frequently have special meetings, committee meetings, and workshops in addition to the 

regularly scheduled meetings.   

 

In consideration of the number of pending issues before the Trustees and the Town, a 

regular meeting once a month would likely put a greater strain on the Trustees, staff and public 

to address Town business.  Likewise, a regular meeting and a workshop once a month, still 

106

mailto:bo@coloradowestlaw.com


requires the same level of preparation and review by the staff and the Trustees, getting ready for 

a meeting every two weeks.   

 

A meeting of the Trustees every three weeks gives staff and the Trustees an extra week to 

prepare for the regular meeting.  The Trustees could look to have an earlier start time and/or later 

finish time if it is believed that additional time is needed to address the business of the Town, 

e.g, a 5:30 pm or 6:00 pm start time, 10:00 pm finish time.  

 

In the event the Board is willing to test out a three-week meeting schedule, the following 

is a proposed calendar for the remainder of the year:  

 

Regular Meeting April 27 

 

May 18 June 8 June 29 

July 20 August 10 August 31 

September 21 October 12 November 2 

November 16* December 7 December 28 

* November 16 is moved up so as to not be the week of Thanksgiving.  

 

 Under this proposed schedule, the Trustees would have 12 regular meetings vs 16 regular 

meetings under the current schedule.     

 

 Should the Trustees wish to modify the existing schedule, the Board will need to pass a 

resolution reflecting the change, and in addition, the staff will need to focus on noticing and 

outreach, notifying the public of any change.   

  

107



 

April 9, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Ordinance 2021-TBD Board of Appeals 

Summary:   

As directed by the Board following review by GAPS committee, please find the first read draft 

of the Board of Appeals ordinance for review. 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

108



 

Page 1 of 4 

ORDINANCE NO. 2021-____ 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE TOWN OF 

PAONIA, COLORADO, ESTABLISING A BUILDING CODE BOARD OF 

APPEALS 

 

RECITALS: 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Paonia (the “Town”), in the County of Delta and State of Colorado, is 

a municipal corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town pursuant to C.R.S. 31-4-101, the Town has certain legislative powers; and  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to C.R.S. § 31-23-301, the Town has the power to regulate buildings and 

other structures for the purposes of promoting health, safety, and the general welfare of the community; 

and    

 

WHEREAS, the Town has adopted by reference codes and standards relating to the regulation of 

new construction, alteration, and repair of all new and existing structures within the Town, along with all 

plumbing, mechanical and installations therein or in connection therewith; and 

 

WHEREAS, each of these codes utilize an appeals board to hear and determine appeals of 

decisions of the building official or claims that the true intent of the code have been incorrectly 

interpreted; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Sec. 2-2-90 of the Town Municipal Code, the Board of Trustees has the 

authority to create and appoint members to board and commissions; and  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Sec. 16-15-10 of the Town Municipal Code, the Town has an 

established Zoning Board of Adjustment which addresses appeals of any administrative officer or agency 

made in enforcement of the Town Municipal Code pertinent to zoning; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Board of Trustees finds and determines that it is both necessary and 

desirable that a Building Code Board of Appeals be created; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Board determines that the existing Board of Adjustment shall sit and serve as 

the Building Code Board of Appeals whenever such board is required;  

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, AS FOLLOWS:  

 

Section 1.  Legislative Findings.   

 

The recitals to this Ordinance are adopted as findings of the Board of Trustees in support of the 

enactment of this Ordinance.  

 

Section 2.  Additions to the Town Code.   

 

 

(A)   The following Article 11 is added to Chapter 18 Town Code as follows:  

 

109



 

Page 2 of 4 

Chapter 18, Article 11 – Building Code Board of Appeals:  

 

Sec. 18-11-10.  Appeal Procedures.   

 

(a) There is hereby created the Building Code Board of Appeals. Unless otherwise 

conflicted, the four (4) members of the Zoning Board of Adjustment shall serve as 

the members of the Building Code Board of Appeals.   

 

(b) The purpose of the Board of Appeals is to hear and decide appeals of orders, 

decisions, or determinations made by the building official relative to the application 

and interpretation of the building codes, and amendments thereto, as adopted from 

time to time by reference within this Chapter 18.  Zoning appeals pursuant to Chapter 

16 shall be heard in accordance with Chapter 16by the Zoning Board of Adjustment.   

  

(c) The Board of Appeals may adopt reasonable rules and regulations not inconsistent 

with this ordinance for conducting its business, meetings, and deliberations. 

 

(d) Appeals to the Board of Appeals may be taken by any person aggrieved by his or 

her inability to obtain a building permit based upon the decision of the building 

official. Appeals to the Board of Appealsdjustment must be made in writing and 

filed with the Town Clerk no later than 4:30 p.m. of the seventh day following the 

action or decision from which the appeal is taken. In the event the seventh day falls 

on a Saturday, Sunday or holiday, the next regular business day of the Town shall 

be deemed the seventh day. The day of the action or decision shall not be included 

in the seven-day calculation. 

 

(e) An appeal to the Board of Appeals stays all proceedings in furtherance of the action 

appealed from, unless the officer from whom the appeal is taken, certifies to the 

Board of Adjustment after the notice of appeal has been filed with him or her that, 

by reason of facts stated in the certificate, a stay, in his or her opinion, would cause 

imminent peril to life and property, in which case proceedings shall not be stayed 

other than by a restraining order which may be granted by the Board of Adjustment 

or a court of record on application, on notice to the officer from whom the appeal is 

taken and on whom due cause is shown. 

 

Sec. 18-11-20. Hearings.   

(a) All hearings of the Board of Appeals shall be held within thirty (30) days of the 

filing of the appeal.   

(b) At hearings, all witnesses shall be sworn-in and the Chairperson will utilize such 

procedures as the Board of Appeals finds will ensure fairness and efficiency. The 

Board of Appeals shall not be required to observe formal rules of evidence but may 

consider any testimony or other evidence the Board finds reasonably reliable and 

calculated to aid the Board of Appeals in reaching an accurate determination of the 

issue involved. Rulings on questions of procedure, admissibility of evidence, and 

exhibits will be made by the Chairperson and will stand unless objected to by a 

member of the Board of Appeals, in which event the question will be decided by a 

majority vote of the members of the Board present. 

110



 

Page 3 of 4 

(c) The Board of Appeals shall have the authority to review any written final decisions 

of the building official regarding the suitability of alternate materials, methods of 

construction, or regarding the technical application and interpretation of the building 

codes adopted by reference, and any amendments thereto, within this Chapter 18. The 

Board of Appeals shall also be authorized to issue advisory opinions and policies 

regarding such matters at the request of the building official. The Board of Appeals 

shall not have the authority to interpret any administrative provisions of any of the 

Codes adopted within this Chapter 18, or to waive requirements of any such code, 

nor shall the Board of Appeals have the authority to recommend decreasing public 

safety or fire-resistive standards set forth in any section of such codes. A decision of 

the Board shall not be considered a precedent for future decisions of the building 

official. The Board of Appeals shall act in each instance based upon the facts 

presented in the appeal. 

(c)(d) In the event of a conflict between any building codes adopted by the Town and 

this Chapter 18, Article 11, the Town Code shall take precedent.  Notwithstanding 

the foregoing, for any matter which the Town Code is silent, the Board of Appeals 

shall take into account direction and guidance from the relevant building code(s).   

Sec. 18-11-30.  Fees.   

 

For all applications for, a fee shall be charged to cover the administrative costs of 

conducting the hearing. The amount of the fee shall be established by resolution of the 

Board of Trustees. 

 

 Sec. 18-11-40.  Decisions.   

 

The decision of a majority of the members of the Board of Appeals shall be final on the 

date it is made and signed by the Board of Appeals.  Any further appeal shall be in 

accordance with C.R.C.P. Rule 106(a)(4).   

 

   

 

Section 3.  Severability.   

 

If any provision, clause, sentence or paragraph of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any 

person or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions of this 

Ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and, to this end, the 

provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable.  

 

Section 4.  Repeal of Prior Ordinances.  

 

All other ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.  

 

Section 5.  Ordinance Effect. 
 

Existing ordinances or parts of ordinances covering the same matters as embraced in this 

Ordinance are hereby repealed and any and all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the 

provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed, provided, however, that the repeal of any ordinance or 

parts of ordinances of the Town shall not revive any other section of any ordinance or ordinances hereto 

Formatted: Font color: Custom Color(RGB(49,51,53)),
Expanded by  0.1 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

111



 

Page 4 of 4 

before repealed or superseded and further provided that this repeal shall not affect or prevent the 

prosecution or punishment of any person for any act done or committed in violation of any ordinance 

hereby repealed prior to the taking effect of this Ordinance.  

 

Section 6.  Effective Date. 

 

 This Ordinance shall take effect thirty days after adoption.  .   

 

 

INTRODUCED, READ, AND REFERRED to public hearing before the Board of Trustees 

of the Town of Paonia, Colorado, on the ___ day of March 2021. 

 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, A 

MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 

 

      By:________________________________ 

       Mary Bachran, Mayor 

 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

CORINNE FERGUSON, Town Clerk 

 

 

HEARD AND FINALLY ADOPTED by the Board of Trustees of the Town of Paonia, Colorado, 

this ______ day of ___________, 2021. 

 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, A 

MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 
 

      By:________________________________ 

      Mary Bachran, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

____________________________________ 

CORINNE FERGUSON, Town Clerk 

 

 

Approved as To Form: 

 

____________________________________ 

BO JAMES NERLIN #40397, Town Attorney 

 

112



 

April 7, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Mayor’s Report 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

113



Mayor’s Report 
 
March 25, 2021 Region 10 Board of Directors Meeting 

 Community Celebration of lifting of restrictions in Gunnison 

 Projections of increased visitation from in and out of state 

 Festivals and fairs in planning all across the region 

 Katharina Papenbrock – OEDIT 
o Large economic project now has funding, application opening Monday 3-29-21 

 Capacity and strategic planning + 
o Stimulus funds bill writing 

 Just Transitions ~$15,000,000 
 Expansion of Rural Jumpstart 

 Region 10 
o Increased REDI funds 
o Some tourism information about accessibility of services considering the rural 

nature of the area 
o Need for employees 
o Exceptional need for affordable housing 

 

114



SATISFACTION WITH THE BUILDLING INSPECTOR 
Survey of 2019/2020 Building Permit Recipients 

 
Over a two-week period, the Mayor attempted to call every person who had obtained a building permit in the 
years 2019 and 2020. A summary of those calls is included in the table below. 
 

Table 1: Summary of All Permits 

 2019 2020 Total Percent 

Total number of permits 58 46 104  

Duplicates (2 permits in a year or permits in both years) 11 3 14 13% 

Total # of individuals to contact (#of permits minus duplicates)   90 87% 

 
 

Table 2: Summary of Non-duplicated Permits 

 2019 2020 Total Percent 

# people with no contact information 8 3 11 12% 

# of wrong numbers or disconnected phones  8 6 14 16% 

Incorrect permit information or no contact with building inspector 5 1 6 7% 

Message left with no return call 10 6 16 18% 

Busy signals 1 0 1 1% 

# people emailed 3 1 4 4% 

# people spoken to 12 26 38 42% 

 
Summary statistics were done on the total number of permits (Table 1). The number of individuals who had 
more than one permit in a year, or a permit in both years were contacted only once and contained in the 
numbers in Table 2. 
 
Of the total number of people who obtained building permits, 38 (42%) responded to the survey. A number of 
people (28%) either had no contact information or their phones had been changed or disconnected. For six 
people (7%), they either didn’t remember having a permit or had no contact with the building inspector. Of 
those who had no contact with the building inspector but did remember who the contractor was, the 
contracted was contacted, when possible, and the information was included in the “# of people spoken to” 
statistics. Eighteen percent (16 ) of the people were left a message about the survey but did not respond. Four 
people were emailed but did not respond and one phone only produced a busy signal when called several 
times.   
 
The people contacted (38, 42%) were informed the Mayor of Paonia and was doing a short survey about their 
satisfaction with the building inspector. They were encouraged to make any comments they wished. Results 
are in Table 3. 
 

Table 3: Satisfaction with the Building Inspector 

Rating 2019 2020 Total Percent 

Satisfied 9 14 23 61% 

Unsatisfied 2 9 11 29% 

Mixed reaction 1 3 4 11% 

 
 

115



 2 

 
 
The majority of people (61%) who responded to the survey were satisfied with the performance of the 
building inspector, while 29% were dissatisfied. Mixed reactions were expressed by 11% of the respondents, 
primarily citing one good experience with the building inspector and one bad. 
 
Those who were satisfied generally commented on his expertise and knowledge, his helpfulness and 
willingness to work together, while those who found his performance unsatisfactory generally found his way 
of interacting people to be the main problem.  
 
People were encouraged to make comments about their experiences. Those comments are included below: 
 

Positive Comments 

 Terrific 
 Fine, mellow, affordability,15% of cost of project was permit 
 After Dave Coleman, breath of fresh air. Sometimes disagree with his urgency but if his job is to inspect, more 

power to him 
 Terrific, interfaced with him several times 
 No problem, helpful 
 Grouchy sometimes, knows his stuff, sometimes get very argumentative and nasty. Really good inspector. When 

he has the time, he's very helpful. 
 Excellent. He did a good job, stuck by the code.  
 Did a good job, was surprised to read about all the trouble since he did such a good job. 
 Clear concise communication, proactive 
 Inspector wasn't unhelpful. Perfectly pleasant to work with. 
 Fine, never had a problem. Very expensive. 
 By the book, doesn't miss anything, but will say nothing in the code, but he likes it a certain way and won't pass. 

Does his job but pisses people off in the process. 
 No issues was good because he found problems. 
 Very informative on phone, gave me enough information. Reasonably priced. 
 Super thorough, very professional, consistent, a little not Paonia vibe, for the most part worked with him very well. 

Tricky thing was not having him in town. 
 Worked together well. 
 Satisfied, found a few mistakes and got them fixed. 

Satisfaction with Building Inspector

Satisfied (61%) Unsatisfied (29%) Mixed Reaction (11%)

116



 3 

 Good experience. Really worked with contractor on straw bale house. By the book. 
 Good with us, kind and nice. 

 He's great. If I make mistakes, he catches them. He is exactly what a building official should be. 

 Interaction a few years ago.  Very by the book, not willing to budge, as I got to know him, understood he was 
trying to keep things safe. Things he was concerned about, not able to give him the information he was 
reasonable. 

. 
Negative Comments: 

 Difficult personality to deal with, had to pay for each revision 
 Butted heads with him on a few things. Conflict of interest when works for an independent company and their 

interest is more towards making money. 
 Hard time dealing with him. Good about some things, felt like he was picking on me. Replaced roof, gave pictures, 

then wanted to see screw pattern after told to complete. Over the top, nit picking. Grumpy, not a great team 
player. 

 Told garage could not exceed 30', then changes to 20', then told 15', set whole project back by 2 months. Cost 
me time and money.  

 Trespassing when showed up without making an appointment, not comfortable with him poking around, 
unprofessional. Looked in neighbor's garage and saw building materials and told them they may need a building 
permit. He knows his stuff, but don't like his style. Goes outside of his scope of work.  

 Difficult for people trying to do small projects. Probably need to bring it back from Denver level to Paonia. 
 Well done with work. Difficult man to work with, disrespect and condescend to people and interactions, not good 

interactions. Very mean. 
 Amenable during email. Picky in a weird way, weird attitude in tone. 
 Get along with Dan but will suggest things that don't really need to be done but may be a good idea. Not a good fit 

with the community, not enough compassion 
 
Mixed Comments: 

 Smart and means well, very knowledgeable, problems with him in Delta. Much better in Paonia. Fair. Answered 
complex questions. 

 Knows me, likes me and respects what I'm doing. Money making business. Charges for resubmittals because of 
this. Usually part of the permit process. Costs are equivalent to Boulder. Too anal retentive, code is a guide which 
can allow innovative solutions. Can be pretty brusque. 

 First interactions really awful, but after meeting him were really good. Consulting fees were very very high, need 
to know approximately how much it's going to cost. Building improvement should be encouraged, not made more 
difficult. 

 Didn't really deal with him except on the phone since didn't need a permit. Maybe a bit snarky. 

 
SUMMARY 
 
Well over half of the people who responded had a positive experience with the building inspector. Negative 
comments focused on his demeanor, that he was hard to please and work with. With the exception of one 
person, everyone was in agreement that he was very knowledgeable and adhered to the code. Some people 
found this helpful because he identified problems and helped solve them. Some found this problematic as 
they felt he was too focused on details versus the whole picture. The people who had mixed reactions 
generally had one good interaction and one bad one, but generally found him to be knowledgeable and fair.  
 
Six of the respondents complained about the high cost of permits and revisions.  

 Not affordable, 15% of cost of project was permit. 

 Very expensive. 

 Had to pay for each revision. 

 Conflict of interest when works for an independent company and their interest is more towards making money. 

 Money making business. Charges for resubmittals because of this. Costs are equivalent to Boulder. 

 Consulting fees were very, very high, need to know approximately how much it's going to cost. 

117



 4 

 Expensive. 

 
In conclusion, since the majority of the people dealing with the building inspector find his work to be 
satisfactory, the Town Board is on the right track to keep using the current building inspector while we work 
toward a shared position with the other communities in Delta County. In fact, several of the people spoken 
with thought this was a great idea. 
 
 

118



 

April 7, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Finance & Personnel 

   Personnel Liaison Appointment Confirmation 

Governmental Affairs & Public Safety 

   Mobile Retail Food Establishments 

Public Works-Utilities-Facilities 

Tree Board 

Advisory Water  

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

119



Amend Chapter 6 of Paonia Municipal Code to include Sec. 6-5, Mobile Retail Food 
Establishments 
 
6-5-1. - Definitions 
Mobile Retail Food Establishment: A retail food establishment that is not intended to be 
permanent, and is a motorized wheeled vehicle, or non-motorized unit such as a trailer, which 
is designed and equipped to serve food and beverages. This includes “food trucks”, “food 
carts”, and similar. 
6-5-2. - Zoning 
A Mobile Retail Food Establishment may operate on private property in commercial zones (C-1, 
C-2) with property owners' permission.  
6-5-3. - Requirements 
The following must be provided to the Town prior to doing business within Paonia and updated 
on an annual basis: 

1. A copy of the Establishment’s Colorado Retail Food License 

2. A copy of the Establishment’s Colorado Sales Tax License 

3. The legal address of the Establishment’s proposed locations(s) 
4. Written permission from the property owner for the Establishment to do business at 
those locations 
5. A signed agreement stating that the Establishment and all employees or contractors will 
abide by town zoning and setback requirements, and that the operator will ensure that their 
vehicle, accessories, and patrons do not encroach on streets or sidewalks 

6-5-4. - Special events and public property 
Any use of public sidewalks is subject to Town of Paonia Municipal Code 11-1-30 (STREETS, 
SIDEWALKS, AND PUBLIC PLACES - Use of public sidewalks for business purposes; permit) 
If the Mobile Food Vendor is operating as part of a street closure or other special event, they 
must adhere to Town of Paonia Municipal Code 11-1-80 (STREETS, SIDEWALKS, AND PUBLIC 
PLACES - Street closure; permit) and 11-3-20 (PUBLIC PARKS - Group use.) as applicable. 
At the Board’s discretion, the Town of Paonia may restrict use of specific public locations for 
Mobile Retail Food Establishments during special events, or may designate a specific location 
for all Mobile Retail Food Establishments during events. 
  

 

120


	Top
	1.	ASF - Staff Reports
	ASF - Staff Reports
	Admin Report
	Public Works Report
	Blotter
	Finance Report 04132021
	202100409 BOT ATTY MEMO

	2.	ASF -Treasurer's Report
	ASF -Treasurer&#39;s Report

	3.	ASF - Disbursements
	ASF - Disbursements
	04132021 Disbursements_Redacted

	4.	ASF - Consent Agenda
	ASF - Consent Agenda
	0323_DRAFTMIN
	0406_ Work Session draft
	RIO BRAVO LL RENEWAL_Redacted
	ConsentAgenda_BlueSage_SEP_Redacted
	ConsentAgenda_TLC_SEP_Redacted

	5.	Retail Marijuana Ordinance 2021-01 - Second Read
	ASF - MJ Ordinance
	Ordinance 2021-01 _Retail Marijuana_Second Read
	500 ft setback from PES & Tech College
	Freimuth MJ Comments_Redacted
	Paige Smith comments on draft Ordinance 2021-01 April 5 2021

	6.	Ordinance 2021-TBD Outdoor Lighting Regulations
	ASF - Lighting
	V2_Final_Ordinance 2021-TBD DRAFT Proposed Outdoor Lighting Regulations_3_17_21

	7.	Modification of Board Meeting Schedule
	ASF - Meeting Schedule
	202100409 Meeting schedule memo

	8.	Ordinance 2021-TBD Board of Appeals
	ASF - Ordinance 2021-TBD Board of Appeals
	Ordinance 2021-TBD Building Code Board of Appeals 

	9.	ASF - Mayor’s Report
	ASF - Mayor’s Report
	Mayor report
	Mayors Report_SATISFACTION WITH THE BUILDLING INSPECTOR

	10.	ASF -Committee Reports
	ASF -Committee Reports
	Food Truck Language

	Bottom

